CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE
Date:

Tuesday 7 December 2021

Time:

7.00 pm

Venue:

Assembly Hall, Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton Hill, London, SW2 1RW*

*In line with legislation and continuing Covid-19 precautions, committee members, co-optees and officers
will attend the meeting in person at Lambeth Town Hall, with members of the public and press and
visiting councillors invited to attend virtually. Instructions overleaf.

Copies of agendas, reports, minutes and other attachments for the Council’s meetings are available on
the Lambeth website. www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov

Members of the Committee
Councillor Marcia Cameron, Councillor Joe Corry-Roake, Councillor Nicole Griffiths, Councillor
Mohamed Jaser, Councillor Joshua Lindsey (Chair) and Councillor Jane Pickard

Co-optees
Simon Funnell, Baboucarr Jallow, Lynette Murphy-O'Dwyer and Frank Roberts

Further Information
If you require any further information or have any queries please contact:
David Rose, Telephone: 020 7926 1037; Email: drose@lambeth.gov.uk

Published on: Monday 29 November 2021

Queries on reports
Please contact report authors prior to the meeting if you have questions on the reports or wish to inspect
the background documents used. The contact details of the report author are shown on the front page of
each report.

@LBLdemocracy on Twitter http://twitter.com/LBLdemocracy or use #Lambeth
Lambeth Council – Democracy Live on Facebook http://www.facebook.com/

How to access the meeting
In line with legislation, Committee members and officers will attend the meeting in person at Lambeth
Town Hall.
Reflecting current government guidance to help prevent the spread of Covid-19, members of the public,
are invited to attend virtually. If you wish to attend the meeting in person, public access can be made
available for limited numbers, but please contact Democratic Services (details on the front sheet of the
agenda or Democracy@lambeth.gov.uk) before the meeting so that arrangements can be made.

For Members of the Public
If you want to watch the live broadcast, this meeting is available to view as a Microsoft Teams Live
Event. If you are new to Microsoft Teams, clicking here will take you to the meeting page where you will
be prompted to download the app or watch on the web instead. Please follow the instructions to watch
on the web. On doing so, you can join our live event anonymously.
Members of the public wishing to make representations at this meeting must inform Democratic Services
(see front page for contact details) by 12pm on Monday 06 December 2021.
If you are unable to attend virtually, there is limited space in the meeting room, but please contact the
clerk (details on the first page) to ensure we can make the necessary arrangements.

For Members of the Committee
In line with legislation, committee members will attend the meeting in person at Lambeth Town Hall.

For elected Members of the Council
Councillors who are not members of the Committee but wish to attend the meeting must inform
Democratic Services by 12pm on Monday 06 December 2021. Upon doing so they will be invited to
attend the meeting virtually.

Digital engagement
We encourage people to use Social Media and we normally tweet from most Council meetings. To get
involved you can tweet us @LBLDemocracy.

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings
Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees using whatever, nondisruptive, methods you think are suitable. If you have any questions about this please contact
Democratic Services (members of the press please contact the Press Office).
Please note that the Chair of the meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of
reasons including disruption caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.
Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the material produced so that
it can be reused and edited by all local people and organisations on a non-commercial basis.

Representation
Ward Councillors may be contacted directly to represent your views to the Council: (details via the
website www.lambeth.gov.uk)

Security
Please be aware that you may be subject to bag searches and asked to sign in at meetings that are held
in public. Failure to comply with these requirements could mean you are denied access to the meeting.
There is also limited seating which is allocated on a first come first serve basis, and you should aim to
arrive at least 15 minutes before the meeting commences. For more details please visit: our website.
Please contact Democratic Services for further information – 020 7926 2170 or the number on the front
page.

Directions to Lambeth Town Hall, London, SW2 1RW
Lambeth Town Hall is located at the southern end of Brixton Road and is a highly visible landmark. It can
be accessed via a number of bus routes and is a short walk from both Brixton Station and Brixton
Underground Station.

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA MAY BE CHANGED AT THE MEETING

Page
Nos.
1

Declarations of Pecuniary Interest
Under Standing Order 4.4, where any councillor has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest (as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct
(para. 4)) in any matter to be considered at a meeting of the
Council, a committee, sub-committee or joint committee, they must
withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of the
consideration of that matter and must not participate in any vote on
that matter unless a dispensation has been obtained from the
Monitoring Officer.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting

1-8

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 30 June
2021 as a correct record of the proceedings.

3

Response to the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual
Abuse (IICSA): Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan

9 - 72

(All wards)
Report Authorised by: Chief Executive: Andrew Travers
Contact for enquiries: Merlin Joseph, Strategic Director for Children’s
Services, mjoseph@lambeth.gov.uk

4

Work Programme
(All wards)
Report Authorised by: Interim Director of Legal and Governance:
Andrew Pavlou
Contact for enquiries: David Rose, Democratic Services, Legal and
Governance; drose@lambeth.gov.uk , 020 7926 1037

73 - 92

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE MINUTES
Wednesday 30 June 2021 at 7.00 pm
Committee Room (B6) - Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton, London, SW2 1RW

Members Present:

Councillor Liz Atkins (Substitute), Councillor Malcolm Clark, Councillor
Joe Corry-Roake, Councillor Nicole Griffiths, Councillor Joshua
Lindsey (Chair) and Councillor Jane Pickard

Apologies:

Councillor Mohamed Jaser, Baboucarr Jallow, Simon Funnell, Lynette
Murphy-O’Dwyer, and Frank Roberts

Also present
online:

Councillor Marcia Cameron

1

Declarations of Pecuniary Interest
There were none.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2021 were approved as a
correct record of proceedings.

3

SEND and Inclusion Strategy
The report was introduced by Councillor Edward Davie, Cabinet Member for Children and
Young People; Abrilli Phillip, Director of Education and Learning; and Jo Sullivan-Lyons,
Assistant Director Education Strategy, Access and Inclusion, who noted:
 The Strategy aimed to ensure all could succeed in life and demonstrated Lambeth’s
commitment for all to achieve their full potential.
 It had been created with the borough’s parents, carers, children, and professionals,
through wide consultation.
 Lambeth’s recent Ofsted report was positive and noted areas for further improvement
alongside what the Council did well, and this Strategy built on these strengths as well as
the identified areas for development.
 Lambeth had a proportionally large group of children with special educational needs
compared to the national average and it was important to identify those needs early.
The Sub-Committee next heard from Rosemary Merricks, Lambeth Parent Forum and parent;
and, Joanna Tarrant, Headteacher, Elm Court and The Livity Schools, who noted that:
 Families’ experiences were often different from the intentions of the Council and it was
recognised that they wanted change immediately but that this was not always possible.

Page 2


















Early identification was key and this was needed across the board.
All children and young people deserved the same from life as others could expect, and
SEND persons were as much a part of the community as everyone else.
Programmes to date, such as the South London Careers Hub where three Elm Court
students had been offered a place, benefitted young persons’ development.
All special schools were looking at fulfilling opportunities, such as work experiences, whilst
some special schools had implemented virtual work experiences to mitigate issues
created by lockdown.
Covid-19 had raised problems for employer-run enterprise opportunities and other post-19
provision.
Further opportunities and co-working with employers and voluntary organisations were
required and these needed to link-up when pupils left school, with greater support from the
Council.
SEND funding was being reviewed by the Department for Education.
The improvements in EHCPs were praised, with further improvements to be detailed in the
Action Plan.
There had been improvements in SEND, but it was difficult for parents to be patient.
Students had missed school during closures and feedback from those coming back were
that they wanted to be on site, with attendance at Elm Court School higher than it had
ever been.
Remote learning had presented challenges for all students, not just for SEND children, but
SEND students had found it particularly challenging as most required a hands-on learning
approach.
A London-wide survey had uncovered that digital poverty and access had been issues for
many.
The Covid-19 pandemic had been extremely difficult for parents, particularly those with
SEND children, and it was noted that a number of schools’ support had been of the
highest quality.

During this item, at 19:21, Councillor Malcolm Clark joined the meeting and subsequently noted
that he did not have any declarations of interest in any agenda items under consideration.
In response to questions from members, the Cabinet Member and officers answered:
 Next steps were a fundamental area for Children’s Services, and they were alongside
Adult Services to promote engagement and opportunities for the SEND cohort, whilst
ensuring that these were properly monitored.
 Opportunities such as volunteering and supported internships gave confidence to students
to be successful in later life.
 The Council was reviewing baselines and ensuring third parties understood the high
aspirations.
 Enabling young people into long-term employment was a key strand of the Strategy.
 The Action Plan detailed types of educational and training opportunities, a commitment to
measure impacts and meet targets, and would be a dynamic document under constant
review.
 Lambeth was offering a range of living arrangements, many of them semi-independent,
and required providers to offer key-skills training to promote independence as far as
possible. The importance of offering independent living to as many young persons as
possible was noted.
 Semi-independent living was available for young people who received support for the
duration of their lives.

Page 3






























Lambeth had commissioned excellent housing providers who could aid progression to
adulthood.
Thanks were given for the Sub-Committee’s praise of the progress made to date.
The implementation of the EHCP Hub would ensure that EHCP applications and annual
reviews were transparent to professionals, schools, parents and carers; and would enable
significant improvements.
The agenda pack had stated that EHCPs were referred to as ‘Education and Health Care
Plans’, but should be ‘Education, Health and Care Plans’; noting that children required all
aspects to work harmoniously to deliver on goals.
The CCG had an Early Intervention Health Visitor for vulnerable families who would aid in
early identification and accessing early years providers.
Accountability was first at the operational level, with an Inclusion Operational Board
driving implementation and where partners were held to account. The SEND Partnership
Board took all strategic decisions to ensure success.
A data dashboard was being developed to allow transparency regarding the Strategy’s
impact.
There was concern about the number of families accessing free childcare provision, which
had declined due to Covid-19 and was historically low, but Lambeth was now up to the
national average (70%). This could help mitigate the effects of deprivation and give a
better start to life, whilst picking up SEND needs early, and the Council needed to further
support families’ access.
Black families were underrepresented in the formal public consultation process, and the
Council intended to consult with them further so that their voices were heard and their
opinions were taken into account, especially as they were overrepresented in the SEND
cohort.
Lambeth had an ambition to be a child friendly community, with children’s voices central to
the Strategy, and it was essential to listen to all children. This has not been satisfactory
for SEND children previously and was an ongoing improvement which the Strategy had as
a priority.
The Council had used HealthWatch to aid the Strategy’s development through focus
groups and had explicitly embedded this in the Action Plan via the Inclusive Engagement
Forum for future service and implementation design reviews.
The Strategy’s first principle was being ‘person-centred’ and, as such, culturally
responsive. A further programme of work, developed with carers and led by the principal
psychologist, would deliver culturally responsible services.
Lambeth had reviewed both pre- and post- pandemic baselines, noting identification of
challenges for SEND children and access to learning support, which applied to most
children. However, the assessing of learning needs was well-handled by Lambeth’s
schools, although this could be further improved across the spectrum.
The Action Plan was currently in draft but would include targets.
Data regarding disproportionality would be included within the final Strategy when
published.
The SEND Code of Practice 2014 provided statutory criteria for EHCP assessment
completion timescales, and Lambeth’s Annual Review compared favourably to other local
authorities.
Consultation took many forms, including with the public between February-April, and with
HealthWatch commissioned over six months to aid in this and in the writing of the Strategy
and Action Plan. Consultation had been based on and guided by data.
There were statutory duties for partners to enact the Strategy and formed part of existing
funding arrangements for partners; but there was no dedicated funding as these were

Page 4








statutory obligations.
Funding remained challenging, with the Dedicated Schools Grant reduced, Lambeth
schools seeing no real terms increase in 11 years, whilst facing difficult demographic
challenges such as the 25% fall in birth-rate, further exacerbated by zero European-born
children being in current admissions data and Covid-19 seeing families move out of
London.
Funding was challenging for schools as the Council could not control demand but had to
treat all children with needs without receiving increased funding commensurate with those
needs.
The Strategy was specifically based on early intervention and not just in early years, with
EHCPs possible to start from birth to 25 years of age. Where additional provision was
needed, funding could be received to enable supporting children in early year settings
even without EHCP plans via the Early Years Inclusion Fund.
Officers understood frustrations arising from complexities of SEND for those in education
and learning, but the Council had an excellent Early Years’ team and was looking to
develop the Area SEND coordinator (SENCO) role further, especially in relation to
nurseries.

RESOLVED:
1.
That the Sub-Committee reviewed and provided comment on the report prior to
consideration by Cabinet.
2.
To promote opportunities with employers and voluntary organisations to aid pathways to
adulthood and identify employees’ support needs.
3.
To provide a measurable set of targets for the Strategy’s Action Plan, including outcomes
for young people transitioning to adulthood, aiding independent living and improved links
with employers and housing providers.
4.
To ensure the Strategy had adequate and early identification provisions, particularly for
early years; whilst detailing improvements of families’ use of early years settings, the role
of heath visitors, and how Lambeth was to approach these.
5.
To review and monitor EHCPs, principally on ongoing maintenance, accountability and
practical implementation.
6.
That the committee members receive a separate briefing on EHCPs with the Assistant
Director Education Strategy, Access and Inclusion.
7.
To share an initial summary of and later the full Action Plan indicating success criteria and
targets with Members.
8.
To ensure the voices of young people, particularly SEND, and all communities, particularly
young black persons, were continuously heard, represented and included in the Action
Plan.
9.
To consider opportunities to share good practice with neighbouring local authorities, and
detail cross-borough working with and comparisons to, neighbouring boroughs’ strategies.
10. To consult with nursery managers and staff on real needs and that nursery providers were
included in the Action Plan.
11. To include lessons learnt during lockdown and discuss with families and the most
vulnerable children impacted by the pandemic; and reflect these in the Action Plan.
12. To note the current funding challenges posed by central government and demonstrate
strong outcomes for children with SEND in the final decision report.
13. To identify the level of need and use this information to lobby central Government on
increased SEND parameters and provide the resources necessary to implement wider
SEND responsibilities.

Page 5

4

Impact of the London-wide Regional Adoption Agency
The report was introduced by Councillor Edward Davie, Cabinet Member for Children and
Young People; Alex Kubeyinje, Director: Children's Social Care; Shkelqim Luma, Service
Manager, CSC; and Nina Sio-Lokam, Agency Advisor & Permanency Lead, CSC, who noted:
 Lambeth’s adoption services were rated as inadequate in 2015, but subsequent
improvements had been made and the Council was continuing to build on these.
 When dealing with small numbers, statistics could be skewed by one or two cases.
 Local authorities needed to exhaust all potential avenues of permanency before adopting
outside of the family group, presenting issues to quickly resolving adoptions.
 The Cabinet Member noted that the Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) had merit when
creating efficiencies but had yet to be fully convinced it was delivering as well it could.
The Sub-Committee next heard from two non-Lambeth adopters; and, Susanna Daus, Head of
Service (Adoption), Southwark, who noted that:
 Lambeth was part of nine local authorities in Adopt London South (ALS), working in
collaboration to provide a more consistent service and to promote adoption in London.
 ALS found families for children across the region; supporting early permanence and
shortening times; recruiting adopters; attracting and providing support and advice to
parents and children through the ‘letterbox’ service and signposting to support services at
any age.
 ALS could also access files from other local authorities to pass onto adoptee as
requested.
 ALS gave advice for anyone affected by adoption.
 The adopters viewed their social worker as part of their family, praising the close bond
formed, especially when considering social workers’ other commitments and noted that
they deserved more acknowledgement in their essential work.
 Much time was taken by social workers getting to understand adopters as people.
 Pooling London boroughs made it easier to find a child closer to home, lowering costs for
adopters and allowing more time to assimilate information during the matching phase.
 It was requested that discounts or support be offered to access adoption-orientated
courses, or that these were offered as part of the adoption process, especially for those on
lower incomes.
 Adopters often struggled with financial burdens, with many employers not offering several
months off work with pay or only meeting statutory obligations, which could deter many
potential adopters.
 The LGBTQ+ community, especially those also in the BAME cohort, could be better
informed of adoption, noting that promotions at events such as Black Gay Pride would
help.
 Many children in care were from a BAME background and this needed to be better
represented in both adoption agencies and adopters.
Sub-Committee members congratulated the adopters on almost completing their journey and
wished them the best for their future family.
In response to questions from Members, the Cabinet Member, officers, and external invitees
answered:
 The adopters did not note any negative experiences so far during their adoption journey
and reiterated their praise of the support received.

Page 6








There was considerable pressure in CAHMS due to the high demand imposed by the
Covid-19 pandemic and delaying all proceedings to permanency and viability
assessments.
The main indicator of service delivery was a child remaining in care prior to adoption, and
Lambeth aimed to reduce this from the current 14 to four months. Officers noted that this
was the one of the primary areas of future improvements needed, but delays could arise
outside of their control, such as from the Courts or care planning.
Applications were prioritised based on the needs of children, which helped secure
permanence, and was not based on the desires of adoptees.
ALS had the discretion to pay adoption allowances, although not all needed allowances.
Most children needing adoption have had adverse experiences or early trauma in their
lives and so required special support, which could be regarded as making them difficult to
place.

RESOLVED:
1.
That the Sub-Committee noted this report regarding the effectiveness of the London
Regional Adoption Agency Adopt London South since its establishment in September
2019.
2.
To review the financial cost of courses and, where possible, include the most wellregarded courses as part of the support package for prospective adopters.
3.
To review allowances for employers, especially to support BAME adoptees, and, if
sufficient allowances were in place, to help adoptive families minimise financial impacts.
4.
To encourage employers to provide adequate adoptive leave, such as mirroring maternity
leave arrangements.
5.
To monitor the post-adoption programme, noting the ongoing pressure on CAMHS.
6.
To monitor Lambeth young people’s health and wellbeing across the borough’s
partnerships as adoption numbers were low in Lambeth and the time children remained in
care was still high.
7.
To monitor performance and to regularly report back to the Sub-Committee.
8.
To continually review barriers to adoption, recruitment strategies, and to ensure that those
seeking to adopt met and reflected the needs of children.
9.
To use outreach techniques (e.g., event attendance) to reach specific audiences,
particularly underrepresented audiences.
10. To work across Children’s Services to consider permanency at point of contact.

5

Supporting Families Programme
During discussion of this item the guillotine fell at 9.00 pm.
RESOLVED: That the meeting continue for a further period of up to 30 minutes.
This report was introduced by Cllr Edward Davie, Cabinet Member for Children and Young
People; Alex Kubeyinje, Director: Children's Social Care; Brenda McInerney, AD: Early Help,
Access and Assessment, CSC; and Kulsuma Faiz, Troubled Families Co-ordinator, CSC, who
noted:
 The Government’s Supporting Families Programme was previously called the Troubled
Families Programme, with Lambeth previously calling this the Aspirational Families
Programme.

Page 7




The wider Early Help Strategy was being prepared and detailed the need to work better
with partners and other universal services.
The Council had drawn down on £1.5m of the Grant in 2021 to fund community early help
services to deliver targeted family support and provide further support to partners.
Covid-19 had led to significant operational changes, such as weekend working, working
more closely with education welfare services, and providing a helpline for families; whilst
also impacting on DWP employment providers, but Lambeth had helped a number of
families into continuous employment.

In response to questions from members, the Cabinet Member and officers answered:
 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) had raised the
following questions which officers had answered outside the meeting:
o How the data maturity milestones are progressing in Lambeth and if there are any
barriers?
o How the Lambeth locality model had progressed and adapted to Covid-19
challenges?
o How Lambeth intended to develop their Supporting Families database to support
Early Help, develop needs analysis and support preventative approaches?
 MHCLG had changed the way to attach value to the programme, setting targets and
increasing the number of families; which meant increasingly complex needs and more
challenge to meet targets.
 The Programme was an evidence-driven process, but it was challenging to get this data
and further work on developing a data warehouse, improving data pathways and linking
with the wider Digital Transformation Strategy, was required. This also needed to be in
tune with partners and commissioning colleagues, through a data sharing agreement.
 The Covid-19 pandemic had impacted community working and meant that the Council
could not reach out in the way it desired, but had created locality managers and hyperlocal working, noting that this was mostly virtual at present. Some localities would have
an Early Help Strategic Group to strengthen working arrangements and a Locality Panel to
deliver help in a suitable way, such as at ward level, but required the involvement of small
community groups such as in Tulse Hill.
 Data and case studies would be provided to the Sub-Committee for their further
information.
 Sustained change was needed by families, however the Council needed to evidence
progress to continue to provide support through the Programme but would continue to
work with families as needed after that had concluded.
 Officers were content to report back after the wider Early Help Strategy was enacted.
RESOLVED:
1.
That the Sub-Committee noted the progress made to date in delivering the objectives of
the national programme.
2.
That the Sub-Committee noted the recently announced change in the name of the
National Programme since April 2021 - it is now called the Supporting Families
Programme.
3.
That the Sub-Committee discussed the proposed developments that will help us to deliver
progress for families on the programme objectives.
4.
To provide detail on improved working arrangements with partners.
5.
To provide the Sub-Committee with the written response(s) to MHCLG questions within 28
days.
6.
To regularly monitor data maturity milestones to improve reporting.
7.
To improve data- and resource- sharing links with providers.

Page 8
8.
9.
10.

6

To implement lessons learnt and focus on partner working arrangement.
To extend and strengthen Locality Panels and ensure ward councillors were involved and
contacted to identify local groups.
To strengthen data monitoring and continue to support families after Programme.

Work Programme
The Chair noted that the work programme report would be discussed offline in detail by the SubCommittee at a work programming session and updated for the next meeting.
RESOLVED: To consider and approve the work programme as currently drafted (Appendix 1)
and identify and prioritise matters for future scrutiny of Children’s Services.

The meeting ended at 9.27 pm

CHAIR
CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY SUBCOMMITTEE
Tuesday 7 December 2021
Date of Despatch: Monday 12 July 2021
Contact for Enquiries: David Rose
Tel: 020 7926 1037
E-mail: drose@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Page 9

Agenda Item 3

CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 07 DECEMBER 2021
CABINET 13 DECEMBER 2021
FULL COUNCIL 15 DECEMBER 2021
Report title: Response to the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA):
Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan
Wards: All
Portfolio: Leader of the Council, Councillor Claire Holland
Report Authorised by: Andrew Travers, Chief Executive
Contact for enquiries: Merlin Joseph, Strategic Director for Children’s Services
mjoseph@lambeth.gov.uk

REPORT SUMMARY
The national Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse published its investigation report into Children
in the care of Lambeth Council on 27 July 2021. The investigation examined the scale and nature of
sexual abuse experienced by children in the former care of Lambeth Council over several decades
spanning the 1960s to the 1990s, and the extent of institutional failures to protect children in care from
sexual abuse and exploitation.
The Inquiry made three recommendations for Lambeth based on the Panel’s findings, the first being that
Lambeth should develop and publish a comprehensive action plan within six months which details the
actions that it will take in response to the issues raised throughout the Inquiry’s investigation report,
accompanied by timescales for completing identified actions as soon as possible.
This report requests the review and approval of the Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan, in response to
the Inquiry’s recommendation.

FINANCE SUMMARY
The necessary resources to support delivery and programme manage the oversight, assurance and
monitoring of the Action Plan and to commission external services for peer review and research have
been assessed and allocated up to £500,000, with funding available from the budget originally set up to
manage the Council’s response to the Inquiry.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee
1.
That the Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee review the draft Lambeth IICSA Action Plan,
made in response to the Inquiry’s Children in the Care of Lambeth Council investigation report
dated 27 July 2021 and provide challenge and feedback.

Page 10

Cabinet
1. That Cabinet agree that the Lambeth IICSA Action Plan, made in response to the Inquiry’s Children
in the Care of Lambeth Council investigation report dated 27 July 2021, be formulated and prepared
in the form presented to Cabinet with this report.
Council
1. That Full Council resolve to take the decision itself as to whether to approve and adopt the IICSA
Action Plan made in the form presented to Full Council with this report.
2. That Full Council approve and adopt the IICSA Action Plan in the form presented to it with this
report.

Page 11
1.

CONTEXT

1.1

In March 2015, the Home Secretary established the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse
(‘IICSA’). In June 2015 the Inquiry identified Lambeth Council as one of three local authorities and
other organisations, including the Roman Catholic Church and the Anglican Church, for
investigation into the extent to which State and non-State institutions have failed in their duty of
care to protect children from sexual abuse and exploitation

1.2

The Inquiry investigated the circumstances of children in the care of Lambeth placed in its
children’s homes and foster care during several decades. Lambeth has accepted that it is clear
that the council of the past failed to keep children – with whose care it had been entrusted - safe
from abuse and neglect. The extent and scale of the abuse, which took place over many decades
remains deeply shocking. Lambeth has also accepted responsibility for creating conditions in
which adults were able to sexually abuse children in Lambeth’s care with apparent impunity.

1.3

In July 2015 the Shirley Oaks Survivors Association addressed the Council to highlight the
appalling treatment and the experiences of their many members as children placed in Lambeth
children’s homes. Without the courage victims and survivors have shown in coming forward to
share their experiences, the Council of today would not have been able to fully understand the
breadth, depth and long-standing nature of its failures to protect children in its care.

1.4

Public apologies
It is difficult to find adequate language to express a suitable apology to those affected. Since July
2015, successive Leaders of the Council have issued public apologies including the current Leader
of the Council Councillor Claire Holland on 27 July 2021 and at Full Council on 22 September
2021:
“On behalf of all elected Members and staff, Lambeth Council wishes to re -state our
sincere and heartfelt apology to all victims and survivors of abuse and neglect while in
Lambeth’s care. The council was responsible for their care and protection but failed, with
profound consequences. The council is deeply sorry for their experiences.
As the IICSA Report sets out, the council of the past failed to protect many of its most
vulnerable children. A disproportionate number of those children were from Black, Asian
and Multi-Ethnic backgrounds. The extent and scale of the horrendous abuse, which t ook
place over many decades, remains deeply shocking.
The council failed to acknowledge concerns when they arose, often failed to believe
children when they disclosed abuse and then failed to take effective action. That so many
children and adults were not believed compounded their experiences and caused further
pain and distress with lifelong impacts. The council takes responsibility for contributing to
conditions in which adults were able to abuse with apparent impunity.
The council has co-operated fully and transparently with IICSA, in order to understand what
happened to the children in our care and examine the institutional failings; and to reflect
and learn from the findings to ensure such events never happen again ”

1.5

The council’s corporate witness (Annie Hudson former Strategic Director of Children’s Services)
also set out Lambeth’s corporate apology in her witness statement dated 9 December 2019:
“On behalf of Lambeth Council, I apologise unreservedly to all those former children in the care of
the Council who were failed so badly by the Council. The Council was entrusted with the care of
the most vulnerable children in our society and those who experienced harm and abuse whilst in

Page 12
the care of the Council were failed by Lambeth. This has led to generations of survivors who have
spent many years living with the consequences of that harm and abuse and who experienced
great trauma and distress. It is not possible to undo the mistakes of the past but we must learn,
and have learned, from this. Lambeth Council acknowledges that it failed in its responsibility to
protect children in its care. It is clear that some Lambeth homes became places where there was
systematic failure by the Council to safeguard children in its care and who, as a result, were placed
in harm’s way and abused. I also wish to acknowledge the courage survivors have shown in
coming forward to share their experiences. I am profoundly sorry that some survivors were not
believed in the past. The Council has taken a number of steps in order to address this failure to
acknowledge the experiences of those in its care and to apologise to the survivors and victims of
abuse.”
1.6

At the start of her evidence to the hearing on 2 July 2020, Ms Hudson reiterated the council’s
corporate apology and went on to say:
“It's my absolute belief that children in care are entitled, as all children are, to a life where they can
grow up happy, in loving homes, free from any worry or fear of, or reality of, harm; where they can
pursue their dreams and ambitions. It is clear to me that a very, very great number of children
effectively had their childhoods stolen as a consequence of the abuse, the racist abuse, the
emotional abuse, the sexual abuse, the physical abuse and the general neglect of them and their
lives during a very long period of time. I am really, really sorry for what happened to those children.
I recognise that Lambeth's betrayal of them is very profound and was very prolonged, and the
failures are on many different levels. There was clearly an absolute failure to make sure that the
conditions in which they were growing up enabled them to be safe and feel safe from harm.
Instead, the council created and oversaw conditions in care where appalling and absolutely
shocking and horrendous abuse was perpetrated. So that, rather than living in safe homes, safe
environments, children were placed in toxic environments where they lived in constant fear, and
they could not have the ordinary life that every child needs -- the right to a good education, the
right to have contact with families, brothers and sisters.
Even when they did speak out, and when concerns were expressed, they were disbelieved, their
voices were silenced, there was distraction from what they were saying. Then we failed also to
give them the support and help that children and adults need to recover from the trauma of abuse,
and that, too, I think, was a very profound dereliction of our responsibilities to you, to the survivors.
Finally, and very importantly, people in power and authority were just not vigilant. They weren't
sufficiently vigilant about what was happening in children's homes, and they didn't take
responsibility for making sure that, even when concerns and issues were highlighted, there was
deep-seated change that was required.
I have been proud to be a social worker for 40 years, but I feel an enormous sense of shame about
what happened in Lambeth to so very, very many children, and the learning for me, and for
Lambeth, has been, and will be, hard, but I think it's really important that this inquiry provides the
opportunity for the truth of what happened to be told and for some measure of justice.”

1.7

Councillor Edward Davie, in his role as Lead Member for Children’s Services, apologised on behalf
of all current Members when he gave evidence to the hearing on 29 July 2020.
“As I am the only current elected Member to give evidence to this inquiry, I would like to add to
Lambeth Council's corporate witness Annie Hudson's apology on behalf of myself and all of my
elected member colleagues. The leader of the council, Councillor Hopkins, and his immediate

Page 13
predecessor, Councillor Peck, have both previously said how sorry they are to victims of the
council's failings, and I add my heartfelt apology to their words. But I, and we, recognise that words
alone are inadequate. Lambeth's motto is, "Judge us by our actions", and this inquiry has heard
from brave witnesses about terrible criminal actions by people in Lambeth Council's employment.
We have also heard about inaction as, time and time again, children tried to raise concerns an
recommendations from previous inquiries were not acted upon by this council. These failures
meant that many children were sexually, physically and emotionally abused, with devastating and
lifelong impacts, as we have heard from the brave testimony of the witnesses to this inquiry. Often
this abuse was compounded by antiblack racist abuse, which is a source of more shame for those
of us, including myself, who love Lambeth's multiculturalism, and our status as the Windrush
borough, where many black Caribbean people settled after World War II to help this country rebuild
its infrastructure.
We must never be complacent, and our children's services still require a lot more action to get
them where our children deserve them to be. You have my word, as statutory lead Member for
Children's Services, the Leader of the council and all Members of this council, that we will continue
to take further action, including any recommendations that this inquiry chooses to make, to
safeguard the children in our care and support victims of the failures of past administrations.”

1.8

1.9

Inquiry process and public hearings
The IICSA inquiry was an important opportunity to explore those past failings, and to ensure that
children in the care of the Council now and in the future do not experience abuse and neglect. It
also provides an opportunity to learn from the past and shape how institutions respond to and
support victims and survivors of abuse now and in the future. The council has been involved in a
number of historical inquiries and has been rightly criticised in the past for failing to act in response
to allegations of child abuse. The council has not undertaken its own independent inquiry or factfinding investigation given the remit of the Inquiry. The council decided against commissioning its
own investigation as independent scrutiny from a national Inquiry would give more confidence to
victims and survivors of abuse in the investigation, findings and recommendations.
The approach Lambeth has adopted throughout the inquiry’s investigation is one of transparency,
openness and accountability. The council has co-operated fully with the Inquiry and reviewed a
vast body of historical documentation so as to understand and identify the cause of the failures, in
particular of political and organisational leadership and governance which led to the widespread
failures to safeguard children in its former care. The council collated and disclosed over 300,000
pages of historical material to the Inquiry and submitted over 1,000 pages of corporate witness
statements setting out its own analysis and understanding of those historical failings to the Inquiry.

1.10 By the time of the five-week public hearing in June and July of 2020, there were 55
complainant/survivor Core Participants, 5 individual core participants such as former Councillors or
employees, and 5 institutional core participants (Lambeth Council, the Metropolitan Police Service,
Crown Prosecution Service, Independent Office for Police Conduct and the Department for
Education).
1.11 The hearing focused on children living in residential care and foster homes with the focus narrowed
through the use of case study homes and children selected by IICSA. The evidence presented
considered the experiences of victims and survivors and examined the scale and nature of the
abuse that took place under Lambeth’s care and sought to explore whether there were child
protection failures by the Council, the police and other public authorities. There was also
consideration of the extent to which particular vulnerabilities of any children who were subject to

Page 14
sexual abuse put them at risk and whether this may have shaped how public authorities responded
to these children and their disclosures.
1.12 Evidence was given by both victims and survivors of abuse, professionals involved at the time and
other professionals in considering current practice. Witnesses included former Leaders of the
Council, Chief Executives, Directors of Social Services and Chairs of the Social Services
Committee. A number of persons of interest and expert witnesses were also called.
1.13 A number of victims and survivors gave direct testimony at various stages throughout the hearing
as well as witness statements for other victims and survivors being read during the hearing. Many
of these survivors and victims had lived at Shirley Oaks and been resident at other children’s
homes (for example, South Vale and Angell Road) or had been fostered. Their testimonies were
all very powerful, poignant and very painful; they all, without any exception, brought into sharp and
vivid relief what it was like to be a child in care living in Lambeth’s children’s homes which were
open from the 1960s to 1990s.
1.14 IICSA is, explicitly and appropriately, very focussed on the experience of survivors and victims.
During their individual testimonies victims and survivors articulated powerfully and with enormous
courage what had happened to them; in so doing they communicated the myriad ways in which
their voices, needs and horrendous experiences of abuse and neglect were wholly and absolutely
ignored and denied. Their testimonies evidenced the shocking and often repeated ways in which
children were sexually abused by those in whom they should have been able to place their trust;
they also demonstrated how staff, managers, senior officers and elected members consistently and
perpetually refused to face the horrific but undoubted reality of children being sexually abused
when in the care of Lambeth. It was very clear that over many years there was institutional denial,
disbelief, and deflection from what was happening to children, including when there was
unambiguous evidence that children were being abused. There was stark evidence of the
disproportionate impact on Black children in care due to racism and that many Black children in
care and their families did not receive the quality of service and support that their needs
required. This was a failing on the part of the Council that would have compounded the multiple
disadvantages that they already faced, which would have had had a profoundly negative impact
upon these children
1.15 Importantly, many victims and survivors expressed very clear and valuable suggestions about how
practice could improve to ensure that children never again endure what they had experienced.
Whilst some of the events described by survivors took place decades ago, they highlight the
continued and absolute imperative of believing children and of positively creating different avenues
and mechanisms for enabling children to talk about what is happening to them. Victims and
survivors spoke of the way that the ‘stigma’ of being in care continuously invalidated their voices
and accounts of abuse. The eloquence of victims and survivors reinforced once again how very
important it is that children and young people participate and contribute to all the decisions
affecting them.
1.16 Survivors highlighted how crucial it is to create an environment in which children are, and feel,
empowered to speak openly about what is happening to them. It was understandably often very
difficult then, as now, for children looked after to be open about their experiences, particularly when
abuse and exploitation was involved. Survivors too rarely had positive relationships of trust with
professionals, thus making it even more difficult for them to disclose what was happening to them.
There were a few notable exceptions to this; for example, when an individual social worker
believed what children were saying. In the main, however, when concerns were expressed by
children, they were disregarded and disbelieved because the prevailing professional culture and
systems in Lambeth were not absolutely focused on listening to and believing children.

Page 15
1.17 The Inquiry Panel analysed the great volumes of evidence that they gathered and testimonies,
particularly from survivors and victims, core participants (including Lambeth Council) and from
other witnesses, including those who were previously employed by or elected members of
Lambeth Council during the period under investigation.
1.18 Within the evidence submitted to the Inquiry by the Council, which included the very lengthy
corporate statement and supplementary case study statements, the Council was clear and
unambiguous about a range of very significant failures based on its own analysis of the historical
materials.
1.19 The corporate statement also provided an analysis of Lambeth Council today, providing evidence
about the improvements that have been secured but also highlighting how the wider policy and
legislative framework has changed since the period examined by the Inquiry. The Council was
also clear in various statements about the work that the Council had done to address historical
failures and weaknesses, recognising that we can never be complacent and that there is much
further improvement work to undertake. Whilst reparations cannot right the wrongs of the past and
the experiences of victims and survivors, the Lambeth Children’s Homes Redress Scheme is a key
element of the Council’s response in addressing its profound historical failures to protect and
safeguard the welfare of children in its care. The Inquiry excluded the redress scheme from the
scope of its investigation in the Lambeth Council strand. In September 2019 the Inquiry published
its report in the Accountability and Reparations strand which considered the civil and criminal
reparations processes, and has indicated that it will return to the issue of redress schemes in its
final report due to be published in summer 2022.
Children in the Care of Lambeth Council Investigation Report
1.20 On 27 July 2021 the Inquiry published its detailed Investigation Report and made a number of
findings about the failures by the Council of the past and the causes which led to conditions
whereby appalling and absolutely shocking and horrendous abuse was perpetrated. Lambeth has
considered the Investigation Report and fully accepts its findings, which also reflected its own
submissions in its evidence to the Inquiry, on the appalling historic treatment of children in
Lambeth’s former care.
1.21 Alongside its findings and conclusions, the Inquiry made three recommendations for Lambeth
Council:
Recommendation 1: Response to this investigation report
Lambeth Council should develop and publish a comprehensive action plan which details
the actions that it will take in response to the issues raised throughout the Inquiry’s
investigation report. The action plan should be developed and published within six months of the
publication of this investigation report and should be accompanied by timescales for completing
identified actions as soon as possible.
Recommendation 2: Training for elected councillors
All Lambeth Council elected members should receive training on: (i) safeguarding and
(ii) corporate parenting. Newly elected members should receive training on these matters as soon
as possible following their election. Training should be mandatory and repeated on a regular basis.
The training content should be regularly reviewed and updated.

Page 16
Recommendation 3: Review of recruitment and vetting checks of current
foster carers and children’s home staff
Lambeth Council should review the application of recruitment and vetting procedures for all current
foster carers directly provided by Lambeth Council, to ensure that the procedures have been
followed correctly.
In addition, Lambeth Council should seek assurances from external agencies and other
local authorities, in which children in the care of Lambeth Council have been placed, that
recruitment and vetting procedures have been followed correctly for all foster carers and residential
children’s homes’ staff working with children.
1.22 The council has not waited for the recommendations and during 2020 identified a number of
learning points for the organisation through its engagement in the Inquiry process and
a corporate Action Plan to address these. The council has already taken steps to address vetting
and mandatory training for councillors on corporate parenting and safeguarding along with a
number of actions to assure the current systems and processes are effective. However, the
Council can never be complacent and recognises that there is further work to undertake. The
Council is committed to continue to improve and its desire to ensure that learning from the Inquiry
translates into positive action which improves the quality of corporate parenting provided to
children in its care.
1.23 The development, approval and publication of the Action Plan meets our responsibility and
determination to support the independent investigation and work of the Inquiry and our
commitment to the approach Lambeth has adopted throughout this process of transparency,
openness and accountability.

2.

PROPOSAL AND REASONS

2.1

It is important to acknowledge Lambeth Council’s troubled past. It is equally important to recognise
how different the Council is today. There is, a very different political environment within Lambeth
today and a much more robust accountability framework within the Council. This provides
oversight and assurance to the Leader of the council, lead Members and senior managers with
statutory responsibilities, in terms of ensuring that issues in relation to risk management, child
protection and the council’s statutory duties are regularly reviewed and scrutinised. In addition, the
council today operates within a much more robust regulatory framework provided by Ofsted; this
currently includes yearly visits and the expectation of a full inspection every three years. Lambeth
has strengthened its commitment to transparency and to a culture of continuous learning. The
emphasis from leaders at Lambeth is that there has to be an honest recognition of situations when
there has been a failure to deliver the high standards of practice that are required with lessons
being learnt to secure and deliver necessary changes and improvements.

2.2

There can be confidence in Lambeth’s position today, with the appropriate caveat recognised by
the council that complacency is not something that can be countenanced. The council has
focused its resources on attempting to understand the failings of the past in order to incorporate
that understanding into its ongoing improvement journey and ensure the Lambeth IICSA Action
Plan delivers meaningful change and impact for our children and young people in care. To ensure
that this is achieved, all actions required as a result of the Inquiry report are developed and
collectively owned by the Council’s Senior Management Team and are fully monitored and
regularly reviewed by elected Members.

2.3

The IICSA Investigation Report requires us to evidence we are an authority that has changed and
to demonstrate how we will continue to change and ensure positive outcomes are fully embedded

Page 17
into our culture and ways of working to meet the needs of our children in care now and in the
future. The Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan has been developed in such a way so as to
address those requirements.
2.4

The Action Plan has been formed of eight thematic groupings to ensure that we are able to give
sufficient focus both strategically and operationally to the issues raised in the Investigation Report.
In addition, structuring the Action Plan in this way has given us the space to comprehensively
address the specific findings of the report and demonstrate how we are continuing to make the
changes necessary to ensure children and young people in care are safeguarded.

2.5

Each theme sets a statement of high-level commitments, in response to the findings by IICSA,
such as listening to the voice of children and young people in care, leadership, political and
organisational culture and accountability. These commitments provide the overarching framework
under which specific actions can then deliver real and lasting change for children and young
people in care.

2.6

The eight themes and commitments in the Action Plan are:

Theme
1. Voice of the
Child

Lambeth commitment





2. Political
Leadership and
Culture





3. Leadership
and
Accountability





4. Organisational
Culture





We will embed 'organisational listening' to give unrelenting focus to the
voice and experiences of children and young people in care.
We will amplify the mechanisms through which children’s voices can be
heard to create an environment where children feel empowered to share
their experiences.
Children and young people in care are actively involved in strategic level
decision making processes; they are involved in our Corporate Parenting
Board and Scrutiny meetings. They are also represented on our Lambeth
Safeguarding Children Partnership Board. We will continue to ensure their
representation and involvement
We will maintain robust political leadership and accountability, founded on a
sound understanding of our corporate parenting responsibilities, and we will
provide appropriate oversight in line with the democratic processes of the
council.
As elected Members, we will ensure that the interests of children and young
people in care are paramount and that we create a culture of honesty,
openness and transparency.
We will maintain robust corporate and political leadership and
accountability, founded on a sound understanding of our corporate
parenting responsibilities.
We will embed a culture of constructive challenge within our leadership
teams.
We will maintain clear member oversight, scrutiny and challenge in line with
our democratic processes.
We will continue to promote a culture of respect, listening, challenge and
learning across the council; ensuring our officers and members are
encouraged to be curious and not complacent.
We will make sure the voices of children and young people in care are
heard throughout the organisation at all levels and are at the heart of our
decision-making.

Page 18
Theme
5. Oversight and
Assurance

Lambeth commitment




6. Social Care
Practice and
Performance for
Children Looked
After



7. Corporate
Parenting and
Safeguarding








8. HR Processes
and Management
of Allegations






We will have effective corporate and political oversight and assurance that
strengthens safeguarding of our children in care and care leavers.
We will maintain and build on the mechanisms that enable clear line of sight
for senior leaders and councillors.
We will continue to ensure that our assurance bodies, including scrutiny
committees, function effectively and provide challenge.
We will make sure our children and young people are placed in safe and
stable homes where they can thrive and achieve their potential.
Our children and young people in care benefit most from having a stable
and skilled social care workforce. Our Children’s Social Care Workforce
Development strategy will enable this and we will ensure our social care
staff have access to the resources and training to equip them to provide
effective, timely, and appropriate help to children and young people.
We will make sure we maintain and enhance effective governance
processes which both enable our leaders to discharge their corporate
parenting responsibilities in line with the Corporate Parenting Principles and
hold them to account.
We will foster increased council-wide awareness of our corporate parenting
role and how safeguarding is everyone’s business.
We will provide a robust training offer for staff and councillors with clarity on
how senior officers and political leaders should execute their responsibilities
as corporate parents.
We will maintain robust processes in place to manage allegations against
individuals working with children.
We will ensure all staff, and those employed by external and commissioned
providers, are recruited and vetted through Safer Recruitment procedures,
that have safeguarding at the heart of them.
We will ensure that staff, providers and partners are aware of Lambeth’s
Whistleblowing Policy and staff are able to raise concerns outside of their
line management and organisation where necessary.

2.7

The development of the Action Plan has been an iterative process, with much consideration given
to how best to integrate the voices of our children in care and care leavers at every step, as well as
the views and recommendations from victims and survivors from their testimonies and evidence to
the Inquiry.

2.8

The actions have been developed and defined by subject professionals, and practice and
operational leads. Delivery of the actions has been assessed against directorate business plans
and existing programmes to identify and assign operational leads who will be responsible for
delivery.

2.9

The Lambeth IICSA Action Plan has been drafted and presented to various forums for review and
challenge including the Lambeth Safer Children Partnership, Children’s Services CMB, Lambeth
Adult Safeguarding Board, Corporate Parenting Board (which includes our Children in Care
Council who are Board members) and the Equalities Impact Panel. The feedback from these
Boards has been incorporated into the actions.

2.10 A series of consultations with (older) young people in care was undertaken by the Participation
Team in Children’s Services in a separate exercise that sought their reflections and

Page 19
recommendations on the actions that the council needed to include in the Action Plan. This has
been incorporated into the actions.
2.11 In addition, a number of witnesses including all complainant and victim core participants, were
invited by IICSA to provide their views about any practical recommendations to prevent child
sexual abuse in the future and to improve the response to such allegations. Those
recommendation are set out in Annex 4 to the Investigation Report. Although Lambeth are not
required by IICSA to respond to the recommendations in Annex 4, we have considered and set out
the Council’s response to each recommendation.
2.12 The 62 actions within the Action Plan have been allocated to the operational Directors responsible
for their delivery. Delivery plans will be reviewed and monitored by dedicated programme
management, ensuring dependencies and risks are managed and mitigated. The quality and
progress of delivery of actions against intended outcomes will be regularly reported to, assured
and overseen by the senior leadership team as follows:
 Quarterly report to IICSA Board chaired by the Chief Executive; and,
 Six-weekly report to IICSA Oversight Board chaired by the Strategic Director for Children’s
Services.
2.13 Council oversight of the Action Plan and progress on delivery and outcomes will be in place
throughout the delivery period of the Action Plan, with the proposed reporting cycle as follows:
 Annual report to Full Council, including Youth Council;
 Bi-annual reports to Cabinet and Scrutiny Committee(s);
 Annual report to Corporate Parenting Board, which includes representation from the Children
in Care Council; and,
 Quarterly report to Children’s Services Cabinet Member Briefings.
2.14 In addition, the Action Plan incorporates external independent scrutiny and peer review by the
Local Government Association of organisational culture, focused on leadership and the council’s
working culture. The Lambeth Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP) will also act as critical
friend given their responsibility for overseeing safeguarding arrangements in the borough and will
scrutinise the impact of actions relating to the safeguarding of children and young people in care in
the Action Plan. It should also be noted that Ofsted are due to undertake a full inspection of
Children’s Services during 2022.
2.15 The Action Plan will demonstrate our commitment to tackling inequalities, and challenging
practices among our professionals as we all as our partners which can contribute to
disproportionate numbers of Black children and young people entering the care system. Our
review of social care practice will ensure processes are age and capacity appropriate, culturally
sensitive and our complaints process is accessible. There is also a specific action to commission
research into differential experiences of children and young people based on race and ethnicity.
This will enable a better understanding of the types of interventions, assumptions and language
used in relation to Black children, young people and their families to identify and address
un/wittingly discriminatory or racist practices within the system which may contribute to this
disproportionality and differential treatment
2.16 The Action Plan will also underpin our renewed pledge to children looked after and young people
leaving our care and help form solid foundations on which our UNICEF Child Friendly Lambeth
programme can build.

Page 20
Contract Management
2.17 None arising from this report.

3.

FINANCE

3.1

Developing both the Action Plan and detailed delivery plan has been resource intensive. Interim
programme management resource has been provided by the Programme Performance service
within Finance and Investment, that has put in place the structure and definition required for the
delivery and governance of the Action Plan.

3.2

Dedicated full-time programme management resource will be put in place to support delivery and
programme manage the oversight, assurance and monitoring of the Action Plan, as well as
servicing the IICSA Board and IICSA Oversight Board and the associated reporting on the Action
Plan.

3.3

The necessary resources including commissioning external services for peer review and research
have been assessed and £500,000 allocated, with funding available from the budget originally set
up to manage the Council’s response to the inquiry.

4.

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY

4.1

Under sections 5, 24 and 25 of the Inquiries Act 2005 the Council as a core participant is obliged to
comply with a statutory inquiry (having a defined terms of reference). A statutory inquiry has the
power, under section 24(1) to include in its report “…anything else that the [inquiry] panel
considers to be relevant to the terms of reference (including any recommendations the panel sees
fit to make despite not being required to do so by the terms of reference).” The power to set any of
the time parameters for the Council to respond to IICSA’s recommendations is set by IICSA.

4.2

IICSA expects that where recommendations are made to the Council, the Council will act upon
these recommendations and publish the steps they will take in response. Unless otherwise agreed,
the Council must publish its response within six months of the recommendation being published, in
this instance by 24 January 2021. A failure to publicly respond to the recommendations of IICSA
will result in directions for a witness statement from the Council as to their failure to not publish a
response to the Inquiry’s recommendation.

4.3

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the public sector equality duty’) is also relevant to the
Council’s response to the Inquiry Report. The Inquiry report stated that “children from Black, Asian
and ethnically diverse backgrounds experienced overt racism”, and a disproportionate number of
our looked after children and care leavers are from Black, Asian and Multi-Ethnic backgrounds.
Further, the Equalities Impact Assessment (see section 7 of this report) shows that a significant
number of children and young people who are looked after have an additional health or
educational support need and many are therefore likely to be regarded as disabled for the
purposes of the Equality Act 2010.

4.4

Section 149 requires public authorities to have due regard to the need to:
(a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited
under that Act
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic (i.e. race, sex, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or belief, pregnancy or
maternity, marriage or civil partnership and gender reassignment) and those who do not
share it; and

Page 21
(c)

foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do
not share it, which involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to(i)
tackle prejudice; and
(ii) promote understanding.

4.5

Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due regard, in
particular, to the need to:
(a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
(b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that
are different from the needs of persons who do not share it, including, in particular, steps to
take account of disabled persons' disabilities; and,
(c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life
or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low.

4.6

The section 149 duty must be complied with before and at the time that a particular policy is under
consideration or decision is taken - that is, in the development of policy options, and in making a
final decision. A public body cannot satisfy the duty by justifying a decision after it has been taken.

4.7

Other relevant legal duties include the Council’s obligations to the welfare of children. These
include the duty under section 17 of the Children Act 1989 to safeguard and promote the welfare of
children within their area who are in need and under section 11 of the Children Act 2004 to make
arrangements for ensuring that its functions are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard
and promote the welfare of children.

4.8

Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub Committee – Due to the timing of meetings, comments from the
Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub Committee will be tabled at Cabinet for consideration

4.9

Cabinet - This proposed key decision was entered in the Forward Plan on 8 November and the
necessary 28 clear days’ notice has been given. The report will be published for five clear days
before the decision is considered by Cabinet. Should it be approved and following the publication
of the Cabinet minutes, a further period of five clear days, the call-in period, must then elapse
before the decision becomes effective. If the decision is called-in during this period, it cannot be
enacted until the call-in has been considered and resolved.

4.10 Council - Following the formulation and preparation of the IICSA Action Plan by Cabinet, it is within
Full Council’s remit to resolve that it (instead of Cabinet) should take a decision as to whether to
approve and adopt and approve the Plan. If full Council resolves to do so, it may then move on to
consider whether to approve and adopt the Plan.

5.

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

5.1

The development of Lambeth’s IICSA Action Plan has centred on cross directorate working, with
contribution and oversight from senior officers within every directorate across the Council.

5.2

Internal consultation on the plan has been undertaken with Lambeth’s political leadership including
the Leader, Informal Cabinet, Lead Member for Children and Young People and Lead Member for
Finance and Performance. The plan has also been reviewed and challenge provided by Lambeth’s
senior leadership team and Chief Executive.

Page 22
5.3

Formal challenge and review of the Action Plan has been provided by: Corporate Parenting Board,
Lambeth Youth Council and Lambeth Safeguarding Children Partnership. This has also enabled
review of the Action Plan by some of our children looked after and care leavers in the Children in
Care Council, through their position as Board members.

5.4

In addition to review of the Action Plan through formalised governance avenues,
Lambeth’s Participation Officer facilitated an informal session for children and young people looked
after (following release of the Lambeth IICSA Report) to discuss the inquiry findings and explore
recommendations as to how past events can be prevented from happening again. These
recommendations have been encompassed within the Action Plan.

5.5

The Council has read and listened to the evidence and testimonies of survivors to the Inquiry.
There were 62 core participants who were victims and survivors who provided evidence to the
Inquiry. 11 survivors and victims also gave direct testimony during the hearings and the Inquiry
also read into the hearing 47 witness statements. Throughout the Inquiry, victims and survivors
were invited to provide their views and recommendations on preventing child sexual abuse in
the future and improving responses to allegations. These recommendations and views contained
with Annex 4 to the IICSA Report have been considered fully throughout the Action Plan
development and incorporated into the Action Plan where appropriate. We have also received
feedback from victims and survivors via the redress process – they have been clear in their wish to
know we will keep children safe and that the events of the past will not happen again

6.

RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1

The main risks surrounding delivery of this Action Plan are:

Table 1 – Risk Register

No

Risk

Likelihood Impact Score

1

Adverse impact on
experience of children
and young people in
care and care leavers
– particularly
disproportionate
impact on Black, Asian
and Multi-Ethnic
children and young
people - through not
delivering the actions
in the Plan

2

8

16

2

Identified actions don’t
deliver outcomes
which sufficiently
address Inquiry
recommendations and

2

4

8

Control Measures
Rigorous governance arrangements
incorporating oversight from
Corporate Parenting Board, Children
in Care Council and Lambeth Youth
Council will continue to ensure that
our children and young people in
care and care leavers are at the
centre of Action Plan delivery. A
dependency management approach
will also be undertaken to align
Action Plan delivery with our
Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion
Strategy. Specific actions in the plan
have been developed that will enable
prioritisation of delivery to mitigate
the impact of this risk.
Development of the Action Plan has
been a carefully considered, iterative
approach with input from across the
council and partners, with strong
reference to the Inquiry findings.
Quality management will be

Page 23
No

Risk

Likelihood Impact Score

fail to deliver impactful
change

3

Failure to sustain the
change delivered
through this Action
Plan

2

8

16

4

Insufficient
organisational capacity
to deliver the Action
Plan

2

4

8

5

Insufficient political
and organisational
oversight of Action
Plan delivery

1

4

4

Control Measures
undertaken to ensure that actions are
delivered to high standard and
quality. Robust governance will allow
frequent review of the plan and
continual alignment to Inquiry
findings and conclusions.
One of the key principles of the
Action Plan is to embed change in
our ways of working; each of the
actions has an operational Director
who will be responsible for ensuring
change is embedded in policies,
procedures, performance measures
and ways of working. Parallel to this
there is a commitment from the
political leadership to ensure that all
councillors engage and deliver on
their responsibilities and that there
will be robust assurance and
accountability through existing
mechanisms.
Dedicated programme management
resource will be in place to steer
delivery of the Action Plan, with
support from Management Board and
elected Members to ensure ongoing
commitment. Operational Directors
will be responsible for embedding
actions within their annual business
plans to ensure they are properly
resourced and planned for alongside
service operations.
A comprehensive oversight,
accountability and governance
framework has been developed to
ensure clear line of sight against
action plan delivery both politically
and organisationally with dedicated
programme management resource to
steer this and service the requisite
reporting cycle

Key
Likelihood
Impact

Very Likely = 4
Major = 8

Likely = 3
Serious = 4

Unlikely = 2
Significant = 2

Very Unlikely = 1
Minor = 1

Page 24
7.

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

The Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) was collated and analysed in October and November
2021 before receiving approval from the Director for Strategy and Communications on 16
November 2021.

7.2

Findings from the EIA centre primarily on Lambeth’s children looked after and care leavers;
showing a disproportionate number of our children looked after and care leavers are from Black,
Asian and Multi-Ethnic backgrounds, as well as significant number of children and young people
having an additional health or educational support need.

7.3

These findings intersect with those of the Inquiry, which made clear that children from Black, Asian
and Multi-Ethnic backgrounds were overrepresented in our children’s homes, faced additional
hardships, and were subject to overt racism. The Inquiry also noted that children with complex
needs and communication difficulties were under the care of staff who lacked the training and skills
to support them appropriately.

7.4

As a result of these findings, actions within the Action Plan have been designed to address the
inequalities faced by these groups and ensure that they receive support and care that is sensitive
to their needs and recognises the additional challenges they may face.

7.5

The EIA for Lambeth’s IICSA Action Plan was considered by the Corporate EIA Panel on 23
November 2021. Key feedback from the Chair centred on the need to build trust with our Black,
Asian and Multi-Ethnic children looked after and care leavers, recognising and showing sensitivity
to their mistrust of the Council as a result of our past failures. An agreed action was to reference
the duties of the Council in delivering its Sufficiency Strategy 2020 – 2023 within the Action Plan;
the strategy that provides the framework and approach Lambeth will take to meet the placement
needs of children and young people in care, prioritising keeping our children and young people
within the borough when this is possible. This has been reflected in Action 6.12 of the Plan.

8.

COMMUNITY SAFETY

8.1

Not applicable

9.

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
Not applicable.

9.2

9.3

Health
Delivery of Lambeth’s IICSA Action Plan supports key priorities from the children and young people
prioritisation matrix within Lambeth’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, namely children in care
and care leavers, as well as our ongoing commitment to supporting children and young people in
Lambeth with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND).
Corporate Parenting
As corporate parents, staff and councillors are all responsible for providing the same standards of
care to our children looked after and our care leavers as would be good enough for our own
children. Lambeth’s IICSA Action Plan specifically relates to this group of children and young
people, with one of the eight overall themes focussed on corporate parenting and ensuring these
structures continue to be effective. Lambeth’s corporate parenting governance arrangements have
recently been reviewed and strengthened, with the inclusion of representatives from our Children in

Page 25
Care Council sitting as full board members, alongside the development of our annual corporate
parenting action plan and performance monitoring dashboard. Ensuring the Action Plan is fully
implemented will continue to underpin our responsibilities as corporate parents in making sure our
children looked after and care leavers are safeguarded, secure and have good stable homes to
enable them to thrive and reach their full potential.

9.4

9.5

Staffing and accommodation
Dedicated full-time programme management resource at 2 FTE will be put in place to support
delivery and programme manage the oversight, assurance and monitoring of the Action Plan, as
well as servicing the IICSA Board and IICSA Oversight Board and the associated reporting on the
Action Plan to elected Members.
Responsible Procurement
Not applicable.

10. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
10.1 The table below details the stages and deadlines for implementing the recommendations:

Activity

Proposed Date

Date published on Forward Plan

08.11.21

Children’s Service Scrutiny Sub Committee

07.12.21

Cabinet

13.12.21

Full Council

15.12.21

Page 26
AUDIT TRAIL
Comments in
paragraph:

Lambeth Directorate

Councillor Claire Holland

Leader of the Council
Cabinet Member for
Children’s Services
Chief Executive

26.11.21

26.11.21

Throughout

26.11.21

29.11.21

-

25.11.21

26.11.21

-

Children’s Services

24.11.21

25.11.21

-

Finance and Investment

23.11.21

23.11.21

Section 3

Legal and Governance

23.11.21

24.11.21

4.1 - 4.5; 4.9

Legal and Governance

25.11.21

26.11.21

4.6 - 4.8

Councillor Edward Davie
Andrew Travers
Merlin Joseph,
Strategic Director
Christina Thompson,
Finance and Property
Andrew Pavlou,
Legal Services
Wayne Chandai,
Democratic Services

Date Sent

Date
Received

Name and Position/Title

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on Forward Plan
Key decision reasons

Background information

Appendices

Ongoing
29.11.21
29.11.21
No
Yes
08.11.21
3. Meets community impact test.
Children in the care of Lambeth Council Investigation
Report | IICSA Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual
Abuse
Sufficiency Strategy
Fostering Recruitment Strategy
Corporate Parenting Strategy 2021 - 2024
Appendix 1 – Draft Lambeth Council IICSA Action
Plan 29.11.21
Appendix 2 – Equalities Impact Assessment dated
23.11.21

Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA)

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan

103008 (12.21)

Page 27

(DRAFT)

Contents
Foreword by Leader of the Council

4

Foreword by Chief Executive

5

Introduction

7

Action Plan

14

Annex 4 to the IICSA Investigation Report

23

Glossary

31

Page 28
About this document
Title: Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT)
Purpose: Response to the IICSA Inquiry Report
Approved by: xxxxxx
Date: 29 November 2021
Version number: 0.1
Status: Draft

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 3

Page 29

Forewords

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 4

Foreword from the Leader of the Council

The publication of the Investigation Report
in July 2021 by the Independent Inquiry into
Child Sexual Abuse shone a light on one
of the most painful and most profoundly
shocking truths about Lambeth Council’s
history. The council consistently failed some
of the most vulnerable children and young
people whose care was entrusted to us.
We let them down.
At the report’s launch, I re-stated the sincere apology
made by my two immediate predecessors as Leader.
The council failed to listen and act, often not even
believing children when they had the courage to
report what was happening. The council failed to
take effective action to stop abuse happening.
That failure has caused untold distress with lifelong
impacts, which we know many survivors continue to

Since the publication of the report, the council
has been working extremely hard to develop and
implement an Action Plan which will ensure that
our children and young people in care will never
again face such heartless complacency and will
instead be supported to live their lives positively
and with ambition for the future. The Plan strongly
incorporates the voice of the child throughout and
benefits from careful and intensive oversight by
elected Members, including myself.
We are absolutely determined to address the issues
which the Independent Inquiry highlighted. Tough
questions have been asked, no process is being
left unreviewed and no child will be left behind.
These are our collective and ongoing commitments
to children and young people for whom we care.
They are also our commitments to residents, carers,
Lambeth Council staff and our partners across the
borough. Each wants to see clear evidence that we

have changed, that the Lambeth of today is wholly
different from the council of the past that so flagrantly
put the needs of children aside.
In developing our Action Plan, I want to thank my
fellow councillors for their engagement. Our staff
have worked incredibly hard – and continue to do
so – to implement meaningful change that will deliver
results. Our wider partnership has carried out its role
of critical friend which has helped shape our Plan
for the better.
Finally, I want to pay tribute to each and every
victim and survivor – and their families and support
networks. It was their courage that forced these
issues onto the agenda and ensured that the Inquiry
into these appalling failures took place. As we
move towards being recognised as a UNICEF Child
Friendly Borough, the needs of children and young
people in the future requires us to reflect on the past.
Victims and survivors deserve our respect and our
determination to succeed in our work. I believe this
Plan will deliver on that promise.
Cllr. Claire Holland, Leader, Lambeth Council

Page 30

wrestle. The fact that such a highly disproportionate
number of those affected came from our Black
communities is a scar on our past that we must
put right.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 5

Foreword from the Chief Executive
play in delivering it in full: this is not a ‘project in a silo’:
it is the responsibility of everyone in the council to play
their part in keeping our promises.

Our Action Plan will achieve this requirement. Strong
and robust professional leadership from the top
– including from myself – but also our committed
Strategic Director of Children’s Services, working
with senior elected Members, Management Board
colleagues and all of our councillors is a strong feature
of this Plan. Every officer of this council has a role to

So that there is clear alignment between this Action
Plan and our broader work on children and young
people in care, we have re-validated our existing
safeguarding and corporate parenting strategies.
Assisting with this important work, Lambeth also
benefits from a well-established Children in Care
Council called ‘Visions of Success’ (VoS), who are an
absolutely pivotal steering group in helping us to make
sure that our Action Plan and ways of working remain
in the interest of all our children and young people
in care and that it is implemented in a service user
led way.

Our Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Board
and Steering Group have reflected on the clear
disproportionate impact on Black children in care
in terms of the horrendous abuse the Inquiry
Report evidenced. To address this, we have strong
programmes and processes in place to support Black,
Asian and Multi-Ethnic children and young people –
but we are mindful of the consistent disproportionality
of Black children in the care system.
The Action Plan includes detail on what we are doing
to embed real and lasting change corporately through
a new approach to organisational development, as
well as making sure delivery is cascaded through
individual business and directorate plans. We are
doing this so that everyone who works here or

Page 31

When it comes to be written, the history
of Lambeth will have our response to the
Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual
Abuse (IICSA) at its heart. The Inquiry rightly
requires that we evidence our assertions
that Lambeth is very different today from
that past which the Inquiry’s Report detailed
so harrowingly, and we are absolutely
determined to deliver on that.

The Action Plan also sets out our strategic objectives
relating to the specific recommendations from IICSA,
such as on leadership and accountability, as well
as updates on projects and programmes which
ensure delivery against those. It ensures that elected
Members’ priorities are actioned and can have
confidence in how Lambeth works today to positively
support children.

Our engagement with victims and survivors of abuse
has been an important element as we strive to make
sure what happened can never occur in Lambeth
again. We are grateful to the brave victims and
survivors for every detail they shared with the Council
and IICSA which enables us to ensure that children
and young people in care today and in the future are
safeguarded.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 6

Foreword from the Chief Executive

Resource has been carefully allocated to guarantee
delivery of our Action Plan corporately with
programme management support. Importantly,
the Plan is not an articulation of a particular point
in time. Like the work itself, it is evolving with

much already delivered: such as our recent review
of out-of-borough placements for children looked
after and strengthened governance arrangements for
corporate parenting. These sit alongside key projects
which are still very much underway, or which require
further final endorsement. We are determined to
deliver on a place where children and young people
can feel safe, secure, cared for and able to grow and
thrive and we will ensure that we work alongside
our communities and partners, including our children
and young people every step of the way to secure
that promise.
Andrew Travers, Chief Executive, Lambeth Council

Page 32

alongside us in partnership clearly understands our
plans and priorities to safeguard and meet the needs
of our children and young people in care. In effect,
this Action Plan makes sure that what we say reflects
what we actually do. Lambeth is currently devising
our UNICEF ‘Child Friendly Lambeth’ programme that
will work with all services across Lambeth to underpin
our planning, commissioning, decision-making and
evaluations with the rights of the child as a priority.
We will be working with children and young people
across Lambeth, including our children looked after
and care leavers, to understand their priorities for the
programme and ensure that they are at the heart
of shaping our child friendly services for the future.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 7

Page 33

Introduction

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 8

Lambeth Council today
4Voices and experiences of our children and young people in care are at the heart of decision
making and influence policy and service development

4Committed corporate parenting with shared councillor and staff responsibility for children
looked after means the most vulnerable children are supported well, in line with the seven key
Corporate Parenting Principles

4Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion is a key corporate priority which is meaningful and influences
the way in which we meet the diverse needs of our children and young people in care

4Robust accountability framework within the council with oversight and assurance by
elected Members and senior leaders.

4Robust process and procedures for safeguarding children, recruitment and vetting and
management of allegations

4Resources to improve social work practice and children and young people’s lives
4Commitment to transparency and culture of continuous learning
4Working toward recognition as a UNICEF Child Friendly Community to ensure children,
young people and their families are at the heart of our planning and delivery.

Page 34

It is important to acknowledge Lambeth
Council’s troubled past. It is equally
important to recognise how different the
Council is in 2021. Today Lambeth enables
and facilitates a strong professional culture
that actively promotes children and young
people in care having a strong voice in all
the decisions affecting them. Resource,
clear political commitment and significant
changes in leadership and approach have
resulted in significant improvements. There
is also a clear recognition that there is much
more that needs to be done to ensure that
services are consistently good or better and
that, most importantly, children and young
people in our care are supported to have
safe and fulfilling lives.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 9

IICSA Recommendations for Lambeth
Recommendation 1: Response to this investigation report

Children in the care
of Lambeth Council

Recommendation 2: Training for elected councillors

Investigation Report
July 2021

All Lambeth Council elected members should receive training on: (i) safeguarding and (ii)
corporate parenting. Newly-elected members should receive training on these matters as soon
as possible following their election. Training should be mandatory and repeated on a regular
basis. The training content should be regularly reviewed and updated.

Recommendation 3: Review of recruitment and vetting checks of
current foster carers and children’s home staff

Lambeth Council should review the application of recruitment and vetting procedures for all
current foster carers directly provided by Lambeth Council, to ensure that the procedures have
been followed correctly.
In addition, Lambeth Council should seek assurances from external agencies and other local
authorities, in which children in the care of Lambeth Council have been placed, that recruitment
and vetting procedures have been followed correctly for all foster carers and residential
children’s homes’ staff working with children.

2020
2021

Page 35

Lambeth Council should develop and publish a comprehensive action plan which details the
actions that it will take in response to the issues raised throughout the Inquiry’s investigation
report. The action plan should be developed and published within six months of the publication
of this investigation report and should be accompanied by timescales for completing identified
actions as soon as possible.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 10

Lambeth’s IICSA Action Plan
development
We have engaged with care leavers and our Children
in Care Council in considering what actions we could
take, and what measures we could put in place
to ensure children are always protected. We have
also engaged with victims and survivors, including
through an Independent facilitator, on the right way
to integrate their voice into our work, and how we
learn and reflect on the events of the past.
We have worked with elected Members, partners,
children and young people in care and other key
stakeholders to seek views and contributions to the
Action Plan to make certain that all areas have been
reviewed and scrutinised.
We explored how to develop actions that ensure
changes are sustainable and outcomes embedded
into our services, policies and processes. This plan
will allow us to deliver meaningful and sustainable
change that will safeguard our children and young
people in care.

We have grouped these actions under
the following eight themes together with
our commitments:

Voice of the Child
Political Leadership and Culture
Leadership and Accountability
Organisational Culture
Oversight and Assurance
Social Care Practice and Performance
for Children Looked After
7 Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding
8 HR Processes and Management of
Allegations
1
2
3
4
5
6

Page 36

Through our engagement in the Inquiry
process and following the public hearings
in June and July 2020, we considered
the lessons learned and developed and
completed actions for ongoing improvement
in services. Following publication of the
Investigation Report in July 2021, which
included recommendations from victims
and survivors, we reflected on our position
before formulating this Action Plan to
safeguard against the failures of the past
being repeated. This has allowed the council
to continue to chart the clear course children
and young people in Lambeth deserve.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 11

Principles of Approach
4We will make sure that the voice of children and young people in care is embedded within each of our
actions within this Plan – and crucially – that this is followed up meaningfully with children and young people
themselves

and to improve the response to such allegations; together with their testimonies and evidence to the Inquiry
about how important it is that children and young people in care participate and contribute to all the decisions
affecting them and inform our actions

4Know that while the events examined by the Inquiry were in the past, there is learning to take forward into
the future and actions we can take today

4Learning does not stop; we will take time to reflect on these events and make sure that what we do to
ensure they never happen again is reinforced by a culture of curiosity, accountability and challenge

4We will communicate our Plan and our progress as we deliver on the actions within it. We will do this in a
timely and effective way with all of our stakeholders including children and young people in care

4We will make sure that our delivery plans are clear, enable effective review and scrutiny and are transparent.
Equally, those changes set out in our Plan will be fully embedded into our ways of working.

Page 37

4Use the victims and survivors’ recommendations about how to prevent such events happening again

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 12

Views of our Children and Young
People in Care
“If you do not have
a good relationship
with your social
worker you will not
tell them anything.”

Following the publication of the Inquiry’s
report, we were concerned about
the potential impact it could have on
the children and young people in our care.

To ensure we did not simply do what we felt was
needed, Lambeth’s Participation Officer met with
young people in care to lead a discussion on the
best way to go about it.
They were surprised that we wanted to inform young
people of what took place and stated there was no
need to. They felt that by doing so, we would create
further unneeded anxiety and heighten or create
concerns which would not have ordinarily existed.
They felt that rather than telling children and young
people what we were going to do, we just need to
ensure that we do it, to prevent such failures from
happening again.

Lambeth need to
ensure that all children
and young people know
who to contact if they are
ever concerned about an
adult’s (more specifically a
professional’s) interaction
with them.

Lambeth need
to ensure the same
thing does not
happen again.

c100 m50 y0 k0 c50 m100 y0 k0 c100 m0 y33 k35

c0 m0 y20 k90

c0 m30 y100 k0

CMYK

PAN
2935

254

322

Black 7

c100 m80 y0 k40 c70 m0 y100 k10 c10 m0 y100 k30 c0 m60 y100 k0

CMYK

130

c0 m100 y50 k0

c90 m100 y0 k0

c100 m0 y0 k20

c90 m0 y40 k0

What our young people in care told us

PAN
c100 m50 y0 k0 c50 m100 y0 k0 c100 m0 y33 k35

c0 m0 y20 k90

c0 m30 y100 k0

c100
m100
k0 c100
m0 y33
k35k0 c0 m0 y20 k90
c100 m50 y0 k0 c50 m100 y0 k0 c100
m0m50
y33y0
k35k0 c50
c0 m0
y20y0k90
c0 m30
y100

c100 m50 y0 k0 c50 m100 y0 k0 c100 m0 y33 k35

c0 m30 y100 k0

CMYK

CMYK

CMYK

CMYK
PAN

PAN

PAN

PAN
2935

254

322

Black 7

130

Lambeth need to
focus on developing
meaningful
relationships
between young
people and staff.

c0 m0 y20 k90

c0 m30 y100 k0

Page 38

Lambeth need
to ensure they
learn from what
took place.

Taking this into consideration we wanted to ensure
that our children and young people in care had a safe
space where they could discuss any concerns they
may have had following the Inquiry and to hear their
recommendations on how we could prevent such
things from happening again.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 13

Council Oversight and Governance
Council including the Youth Council (annually)
Chair: Mayor of Lambeth

Progress on delivery and outcomes will be
reported via our existing democratic and
governance processes throughout delivery
of the Action Plan.
In addition to council oversight, there will
be independent peer review by the Local
Government Association and Lambeth
Safeguarding Children Partnership.

Cabinet (bi-annually)

Chair: Leader of the Council

Overview and Scrutiny / Children’s Services Scrutiny (bi-annually)
Chair: Elected Member

4Corporate Parenting Board including the Children in Care Council (annually)
4Children’s Services Cabinet Member Briefings (quarterly)

Lambeth IICSA Board (quarterly)
Chair: Chief Executive

IICSA Oversight Board (6-weekly)

Chair: Strategic Director Children’s Services

Page 39

Oversight of our Action Plan by elected
Members and senior leaders will ensure
accountability, challenge and scrutiny.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 14

Page 40

IICSA Action Plan

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 15

1 Voice of the Child
ACTIONS

WHEN

We will embed
‘organisational listening’ to
give unrelenting focus to
the voice and experiences
of children and young
people in care.

1.1 We will continue to consult with our children and young people looked after to devise relevant
approaches and strategies in how best to work with them, strengthening and forging meaningful
and safe relationships between our children and young people looked after and professionals. We
will embed continuous improvement in this area in our Children’s Services annual business plan.

Ongoing

1.2 Every child and young person in care under the age of 18 has an Independent Reviewing
Officer (IRO). IROs are trained and qualified social workers who work in the local authority in an
independent capacity. Lambeth’s IROs oversee and scrutinise the Care Plan of the child/ young
person and ensure that everyone who is involved in that child/young person’s life fulfils his or her
responsibilities. We will continue to ensure that we maximise the use of our IROs to support our
children and young people and to add an extra layer of quality assurance in the way we work.

Ongoing

1.3 We commission an Independent Visitor Scheme for our children and young people in care.
The service is child-led, with the needs and views of our children and young people at the centre
of all its work, this includes referrals, matching, visits, and endings. We will continue to ensure
children and young people have access to externally trained professionals through this service for
advice and support and to discuss their wishes and feelings, and will work with them to increase
take-up of this service.

By January
2024

1.4 Lambeth commission an Independent Advocacy Service. We will continue to promote this
service to ensure our children and young people have an independent professional who can also
advocate on their behalf, help them to take part in decisions that affect their lives, make sure their
rights are respected, and their views and wishes are heard and where possible acted upon.

Ongoing

1.5 We will review our Independent Visitor and Advocacy services, seeking better practice and
the best offer for our children, young people and children and young people in care and care
leavers.

By March 2023

1.6 Lambeth Children’s Social Care has a complaints service where children, young people and
other service users can make a formal complaint about the care and/or support provided to them.
Children and young people can also receive support from an Advocate to help them in making a
complaint. We will continue to: promote the complaints service and make it accessible and user
friendly for our children and young people; monitor the handling of complaints, deliver what we
have promised, learn from complaints, and use this learning to improve services for everyone who
uses them; and to review and report annually to Corporate Committee.

Annually

We will amplify the
mechanisms through
which children’s voices
can be heard to create an
environment where children
feel empowered to share
their experiences.
Children and young people
in care are actively involved
in strategic level decision
making processes; they are
involved in our Corporate
Parenting Board and
Scrutiny meetings. They
are also represented on
the Lambeth Safeguarding
Children Partnership Board.
We will continue to ensure
their representation and
involvement.

Page 41

COMMITMENTS

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 16

2 Political Leadership and Culture
ACTIONS

WHEN

We will maintain robust
political leadership and
accountability, founded on
a sound understanding of
our corporate parenting
responsibilities, and we
will provide appropriate
oversight in line with the
democratic processes
of the council.

2.1 Ensure all councillors operate in line with the Nolan Principles of public office: Selflessness,
Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, Honesty and Leadership.

Ongoing

2.2 Review and refresh the Member Code of Conduct ensuring ensuring clear directive about
the distinction between oversight and scrutiny role of elected Members and operational decisionmaking by officers and reinforce on a regular basis.

By April 2022

2.3 Review elected Members’ involvement in our industrial relations and trade union processes
and ensure these are appropriate and in line with the Member Code of Conduct and the
respective roles of elected Members and officers.

By December
2022

2.4 Ensure induction training for newly-elected councillors reinforces roles and responsibilities
of elected Members and officers including Codes of Conduct and Member/Officer Protocols.

By April 2022

As elected Members,
we will ensure that the
interests of children and
young people in care
are paramount and that
we create a culture of
honesty, openness and
transparency.

2.5 Ensure that all newly-elected councillors complete mandatory corporate parenting,
safeguarding and Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) training as part of their induction and
have refresher training each year for the duration of their term (Recommendation 2).

By April 2022

2.6 Review mandatory training requirements for elected Members and the process for monitoring
completion, ensuring non-compliance is appropriately reported via formal mechanisms (including
to Standards Committee and Cabinet) (Recommendation 2).

By April 2022

2.7 Continue to ensure annual refresh of Register of Interests by elected Members.

Annually

Page 42

COMMITMENTS

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 17

3 Leadership and Accountability
ACTIONS

WHEN

We will maintain
robust corporate and
political leadership and
accountability, founded on
a sound understanding of
our corporate parenting
responsibilities.

3.1 Oversight of our Action Plan by elected Members will ensure accountability, challenge and
scrutiny: the Council, Youth Council, the Leader, Cabinet, Lead Member for Children’s Services,
Scrutiny Committees, Corporate Parenting Board and Children in Care Council will scrutinise and
help strengthen our Plan through our existing democratic and governance processes throughout
delivery of the Action Plan.

Ongoing

3.2 Oversight and responsibility for delivery of our Action Plan by the Chief Executive, the statutory
Director of Children’s Services and senior leadership team will ensure accountability, challenge
and scrutiny.

Ongoing

We will embed a culture
of constructive challenge
within our leadership
teams.

3.3 Focus our new Organisational Development Strategy to instill the right cultures and processes
and enable effective monitoring of performance against our objectives.

By April 2022

3.4 Continue the development and implementation of our Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Action
Plan, to ensure that the council has a recognised culture and practices which empower staff
to flag and challenge discriminatory practice so that they can be effective advocates within our
communities and to those who use our services.

Ongoing

3.5 Provide mechanisms for Black children and their families to share their lived experiences
of the care system with senior leaders and elected Members to sensitise and reduce the distance
between senior leaders and elected Members and the people they serve.

Ongoing

We will maintain clear
Member oversight, scrutiny
and challenge in line with
our democratic processes.

Page 43

COMMITMENTS

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 18

4 Organisational Culture
ACTIONS

WHEN

We will continue to
promote a culture of
respect, listening, challenge
and learning across the
council; ensuring our
officers and councillors are
encouraged to be curious
and not complacent.

4.1 Design and hold an annual day of reflection, relevant to all staff and councillors, so that
the learning from past events lives in the corporate memory of staff and councillors with a
determination for it never to happen again.

By July 2022

4.2 Ensure our staff and councillors are appropriately informed and involved in our response to
and actions resulting from the IICSA report through regular and repeated internal and external
communications that also promote a culture of shared corporate safeguarding responsibility and
ensure understanding of how best to act where concerns are identified.

Ongoing

4.3 Ensure a transparent, inclusive, accountable, user-centred and collaborative culture continues
to develop through delivery of our Organisational Development Strategy, and is evidenced in a
systematic and measurable way that we can monitor.

By March 2025

4.4 Ensure councillors and senior officers operate in an environment of supportive challenge
to ensure issues and concerns can be voiced in line with the Nolan Principles of public office:
Selflessness, Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, Honesty and Leadership.

Ongoing

4.5 Reinforce roles and responsibilities of councillors and officers including Codes of Conduct and
Member/Officer Protocols in induction training for new staff.

By May 2022

4.6 Ensure that our industrial relationship practices and working relationships with the trade
unions operate effectively and fit with robust principles of transparency and accountability.

By March 2023

4.7 Work with Lambeth trade unions and their national organisations to ensure robust processes
are in place that provide appropriate separation between trade unions, councillors and officers,
always placing the safety of children above the interests of individual trade union members.

By March 2023

4.8 We will adopt an integrated reporting dashboard to monitor performance on our organisational
development objectives. This will provide a clear picture of the extent to which we have achieved:
a culture of listening to children, carers and staff
a culture of constructive and supportive challenge that is a welcome part of the way we work
a high level of confidence in the organisation in whistle-blowing as a necessary control
effective management of complaints
a culture of honesty and support for staff and each other
organisational clarity regarding the different roles of members and of officers, through inductions
and ongoing training.

By September
2022

We will make sure the
voices of children and
young people in care are
heard throughout the
organisation at all levels
and are at the heart of our
decision-making.

l
l
l
l
l
l

Page 44

COMMITMENTS

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 19

5 Oversight and Assurance
ACTIONS

WHEN

We will have effective
corporate and political
oversight and assurance
that strengthens
safeguarding of our
children in care and care
leavers.

5.1 Review all existing performance reporting mechanisms to senior leaders charged with
governance to ensure they are fit for purpose. Produce a quarterly report on all additional
assurance processes to Management Board, Cabinet and the Corporate Committee.

By June 2022

5.2 Ensure information sharing processes and protocols for senior managers about individual
children and allegations against professionals with Lead Member for Children’s Services are
embedded within existing governance and processes.

Completed
May 2021

5.3 Undertake review of systems and processes for commissioning to ensure good oversight of
commissioned placements.

Completed
June 2021

5.4 Ensure alignment of quality assurance processes for non-regulated placements for care
leavers with processes for regulated placements for consistency.

Completed
September 2021

5.5 Commission research and testing of the cultural competency of our social care practices to
identify and address impacts of racism within the system.

By December
2023

5.6 Commission the Local Government Association to undertake a peer review of organisational
culture for the council, focused on our leadership and working culture.

By July 2023

5.7 Commission the Lambeth Safeguarding Children Partnership to undertake scrutiny of the
impact of actions relating to the safeguarding of children and young people in care in this
Action Plan.

By January
2024

We will maintain and build
on the mechanisms that
enable clear line of sight
for senior leaders and
councillors.
We will continue to
ensure that our assurance
bodies, including scrutiny
committees, function
effectively and provide
challenge.

Page 45

COMMITMENTS

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 20

6 Social Care Practice and Performance for Children Looked After
ACTIONS

WHEN

We will make sure our
children and young people
are placed in safe and
stable homes where they
can thrive and achieve
their potential.

6.1 Ensure that all children and young people know who to contact if they are ever concerned
about an adult’s interaction with them and are confident to do so.

Ongoing

6.2 The Lambeth Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP) to commission an audit into harmful
sexual behaviour.

Completed
October 2021

6.3 Implement recommendations of the LSCP Harmful Sexual Behaviour Audit to ensure
children and young people who report harmful sexual behaviour, are supported and responded
to appropriately by partners such as health, education, police and others.

By April 2023

6.4 Ensure placements outside of the borough are reviewed to ensure that children and young
people in care are receiving the same high level of care no matter where they are placed.

Completed
May 2021

6.5 Deliver appropriate multi-agency training annually on core communication methods for
children with complex needs and communication difficulties.

Annually

6.6 Deliver our Fostering Recruitment Strategy (2020 – 2023) that will enhance the support
and training of foster carers in providing safe and stable homes.

By August 2023

6.7 Ensure guidance for social workers on how to respond to children who report sexual abuse
includes requirement for harm reduction actions to be taken, and they are monitored within audits.

By January 2022

6.8 Ensure our Workforce Development Strategy for Children’s Social Care supports and
integrates with our social workers’ personal development plans and continuing professional
development, so they can achieve the best outcomes for our children and young people.

By April 2022

6.9 Expand our social care audit capacity and embed our new Quality Assurance Framework and
audit cycle so that we have enhanced oversight of practice and the subsequent learnings.

By April 2022

6.10 Work with partners to identify and challenge practices which un/wittingly increase the risk
and trauma of statutory interventions resulting in negative outcomes for our children and families.

Ongoing

6.11 Strengthen our document management system and processes to ensure our children’s
records are maintained digitised and accessible.

By April 2023

6.12 Expand our in-house foster care service to reduce the demand on commissioned and out of
borough placements through delivery of our Sufficiency Strategy (2020 – 2023).

By November
2023

Our children and young
people in care benefit
most from having a stable
and skilled social care
workforce. Our Children’s
Social Care Workforce
Development Strategy
will enable this and we
will ensure our social care
staff have access to the
resources and training
to equip them to provide
effective, timely, and
appropriate help to children
and young people.

Page 46

COMMITMENTS

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 21

7 Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding
ACTIONS

WHEN

We will make sure we
maintain and enhance
effective governance
processes which both
enable our leaders to
discharge their corporate
parenting responsibilities
in line with the Corporate
Parenting Principles and
hold them to account.

7.1 Review effectiveness of our corporate parenting governance arrangements including our
Children in Care Council to improve outcomes for our children looked after and care leavers and
develop a clear governance and delivery structure.

Completed
September 2021

7.2 Review the Constitution to strengthen corporate parenting responsibilities and reflect the
Corporate Parenting Pledge all newly-elected councillors sign.

By April 2022

7.3 Deliver our Corporate Parenting Strategy (2021 – 2024) and listen to our children and young
people to ensure our children looked after and care leavers have the right services and support in
place to meet their identified needs and achieve good outcomes.

By April 2024

7.4 Update and implement a refreshed Corporate Safeguarding Policy for staff and councillors to
ensure they understand that safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility.

By April 2022

7.5 Deliver refreshed corporate parenting and safeguarding training for all staff and embed
refresher training in the corporate training offer for the duration of their employment.

By April 2022

7.6 Develop a corporate parenting handbook for councillors to support them in carrying out their
duties as corporate parents, including those who are the thematic champions for early years,
health and wellbeing, voice of the child, fostering and adoption, education employment and
training, housing and care-experienced young people.

Completed
July 2021

7.7 Develop a corporate parenting reporting dashboard to enable scrutiny of our performance
against the Corporate Parenting Strategy.

Completed
July 2021

We will foster increased
council-wide awareness
of our corporate parenting
role and how safeguarding
is everyone’s business.
We will provide a robust
training offer for staff
and councillors with
clarity on how senior
officers and political
leaders should execute
their responsibilities as
corporate parents.

Page 47

COMMITMENTS

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 22

8 HR Processes and Management of Allegations
ACTIONS

WHEN

We will maintain robust
processes in place to
manage allegations against
individuals working with
children.

8.1 Ensure the process for raising concerns about risk or harm to a child from a person who
works with children – our Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) process – is well-promoted
and supportive of people who make an allegation.

Annually

8.2 Review and update our Recruitment and Vetting Policy to reflect our existing safer recruitment
practices.

Completed
July 2021

8.3 Make sure our current staff working with children, our councillors and our foster carers have
appropriate and up-to-date DBS (Disclosure and Barring Service) certificates, and implement an
online DBS process that enables better monitoring of compliance in line with safer recruitment
practice (Recommendation 3).

Completed
October 2021

8.4 Review our Disciplinary Policy and key HR policies to ensure that we have robust processes
when concerns are raised about risk of harm to a child.

By April 2022

8.5 Continue to ensure our commissioned services and placements have robust safer
recruitment practices in place for staff working with children and young people.

By April 2022

8.6 Update our Whistleblowing Policy to include specific reference to safeguarding and promote
awareness with our staff, partners and public.

By January
2022

8.7 Implement an annual refresh of the staff Declaration of Interests, that will be monitored and
recorded on employment records.

By April 2023

8.8 Reinforce Staff Code of Conduct with staff on regular basis.

By April 2022

8.9 Improve staff exit interview completion rates and incorporate lessons learned from exit
interviews into assurance reports to our leadership team.

By April 2023

8.10 Review requirements for DBS checks for elected Members to ensure alignment with
regulations. Refresh policy and roll out new requirements following elections in May 2022.

By May 2022

We will ensure all staff,
and those employed by
external and commissioned
providers, are recruited
and vetted through safer
recruitment procedures,
that prioritise safeguarding.
We will ensure that staff,
providers and partners
are aware of Lambeth’s
Whistleblowing Policy
and staff are able to
raise concerns outside
of their line management
and organisation where
necessary.

Page 48

COMMITMENTS

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 23

Annex 4 to the IICSA Investigation Report
Page 49

Recommendations proposed
by Core Participants

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 24

Annex 4 to the IICSA Investigation Report
A number of witnesses, including all complainant and victim core
participants, were invited by IICSA to provide their views about any practical
recommendations to prevent child sexual abuse in the future and to improve
the response to such allegations.

Three of the recommendations require a change in legislation by
government and IICSA has indicated it may revisit them in their final
report due to published in summer 2022.

Page 50

Although Lambeth is not required by IICSA to respond to the
recommendations in Annex 4, the Council has considered and set out
its response noting where existing legislation, guidance, practice or the
Action Plan addresses each recommendation.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 25

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATION BY WITNESS/
CORE PARTICIPANT

LAMBETH COUNCIL RESPONSE

1. Mandatory reporting of child sexual abuse
There should be a statutory duty to report suspected and actual cases of
child sexual abuse; a clear and unambiguous legal requirement to report
abuse and reasonable suspicion of abuse, breach of which can give rise to
criminal sanctions.

IICSA have indicated they will return to this issue in their final report due to be published in
summer 2022.

2. Mandatory training of elected councillors
Newly elected councillors should be given mandatory training on corporate
parenting and safeguarding of children.

Training for councillors on corporate parenting and safeguarding is in place and will be
mandatory.

Councillors should also be trained in institutional racism and cultural
differences.

This recommendation has been incorporated into the Lambeth IICSA Action Plan, Equalities,
Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) training will be mandatory (Action 2.5).

3. Regulation of social care staff
Regulation of the children’s home workforce is urgently needed for social
care workers. There should be an overarching local authority regulator
or national safeguarding body that is able to compel action and impose
financial sanctions on local authorities which are in breach of their statutory
duties towards and causing harm to children.

This recommendation is for IICSA/Government to consider as would require change in law.
Lambeth no longer directly provides residential care but instead commissions this, primarily
from the independent sector. Ofsted’s role as the regulator of independent provision is clearly
crucial in ensuring high quality provision and well trained and supported residential staff.

Page 51

This would require a change in legislation given at present, in England, there is no legal
requirement on those working with children to report known or suspect child abuse or
neglect. However, the statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018),
states that “anyone who has concerns about a child’s welfare should make a referral to local
authority children’s social care and should do so immediately if there is a concern that the
child is suffering significant harm or is likely to do so.” While statutory guidance does not
impose an absolute legal requirement to comply, it requires practitioners and organisations
to take it into account and, if they depart from it, to have clear reasons for doing so. Some
professional bodies also require their members to report any concerns about a child’s safety
or well-being. A professional’s failure to adhere to such standards or codes of conduct may
result in misconduct or fitness to practise proceedings against them.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 26

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATION BY WITNESS/
CORE PARTICIPANT

LAMBETH COUNCIL RESPONSE

4. Training of social care staff
All social workers are trained and qualified; the professional governing body, Social Work
England require them to demonstrate Continuous Professional Development (CPD) and to
keep their training up to date. In Lambeth, we provide a comprehensive training programme
to all social workers to meet continual professional development requirements.

Foster carers should have better training regarding child care in general.

Foster carers are required to undertake training and development as set out in the National
Minimum Standards for Foster Care. There has been a focus on rolling out more traumabased practice training to foster carers. Foster carers approved by Lambeth need to
demonstrate ongoing personal development through an agreed Personal Development Plan
(PDP). If carers do not adhere to ongoing development, supported by their signing of the
Foster Carer Agreement, then their approval as a foster carer will be reviewed. Independent
Fostering Agencies also need to adhere to the National Minimum Standards.

All social care staff and foster carers should be given training on how to deal
with concerns about potential abuse, disclosures of abuse, how to identify
the signs of child sexual abuse and what to do to address it.

All social workers are trained in child sexual abuse and there is guidance in the London
Child Protection Procedures and Practice Guidance that they have to follow. As part of our
annual training needs analysis and strategy, we provide our social workers the opportunity
to enhance their learning and skills in this area. We also have a bespoke forum facilitated by
a multi-disciplinary team at the South London and Maudsley NHS Trust to support to social
workers and other professionals in assessment and intervention of children presenting with
harmful sexual behaviour.

Each child should have access to abuse prevention programmes and to
social workers with expertise in child sexual abuse and substance abuse.

All children in care have an allocated social worker who is trained in responding to child sexual
abuse, and an Independent Reviewing Officer who sees them alone to promote safety.

5. Vetting of social care staff and foster carers
Stringent background checks should be carried out for all those people
working with children, including social workers, foster carers and the
individuals entering children’s homes as visitors.

All staff and foster carers who work directly with children are required to undergo stringent
checks via the Disclosure and Barring Service which are updated regularly. In addition,
councillors also undergo regular checks. Children’s homes are responsible for managing
and monitoring visitors in line with their statutory duties and guidance.

Background checks should be regularly updated.

All checks on staff, foster carers and councillors are updated every three years.

Page 52

Social workers should have proper training and qualifications.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 27

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATION BY WITNESS/
CORE PARTICIPANT

LAMBETH COUNCIL RESPONSE

6. Monitoring of children and placements
There should be intensive monitoring of children placed in care. Children’s
homes and foster placements should be subject to regular visits by
independent experts.

Lambeth Council does not manage any children’s homes. Residential placements are
commissioned through independent providers. Social workers visit children in care within
one week of the child being placed in the children’s homes and then regulations provide
once every 6 weeks for the first year, however in Lambeth we do this on a 4-weekly basis. In
addition, the Independent Reviewing Officer visits prior to a review within 20 days of a child
coming into care, then at 3 months and then every 6 months.

Every foster carer has a supervising social worker. For short term foster carers, supervising
social workers visit every 3 weeks, for long term foster carers this is every 6 weeks. In
addition, they have the child looked after visits by the child’s allocated social worker and
Independent Reviewing Officer just as the council undertakes when children are placed in
children’s homes.
A child’s behaviour should be carefully observed. Systems should be put in
place to record changes in behaviour and to examine whether behavioural
issues, such as absconsion, are indicative of sexual or other abuse.

We have a designated Missing Person Coordinator who works in liaison with the Lambeth
Child Sexual Exploitation Coordinator. Every time a child goes missing from a placement, they
are offered a return home interview to find out where they went and any underlying reasons
for running away. Any changes of behaviour are subject to ongoing assessments. We have
enhanced the service by employing youth workers to carry out return to home interviews
where the young person may be reluctant to talk to a social worker. The role of the CSE
Coordinator, is to ensure sure that social workers are able to identify all children, including
those who are looked after, who are at risk of child sexual exploitation. Monthly reports are
provided to senior managers so that they are aware of concerns. There are also a number
of other related processes and practices which are explicitly focussed on keeping children
and young people in care safe.

Page 53

Under regulation 44 of the Children’s Homes Regulations 2015, ‘Independent Persons’
visit children’s homes at least once a month. They are able to interview in private (with their
consent) children, their parents, relatives and staff working at the home. They must produce
a report on whether children are effectively safeguarded and how the home is being run
which is sent to Ofsted as well as the local authority where the home is located and the local
authority from where the children are placed. In addition, children’s homes are regulated and
subject to visits and annual inspections by Ofsted.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 28

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATION BY WITNESS/
CORE PARTICIPANT

LAMBETH COUNCIL RESPONSE

6. Monitoring of children and placements
Children’s homes should have CCTV in order to monitor and evidence any
abuse that takes place in these homes.

There is statutory guidance for surveillance and monitoring in children’s homes.
Surveillance and monitoring in residential childcare settings – GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Social workers should be contactable at any time so that the child may have
support in an emergency.

Social workers are contactable during the daytime, or in their absence their team managers
are contactable. We also have an out of hours social work service for any emergency
requirements, that operates 365 days a year.

7. Implementation of safeguarding policies
All social workers are trained in safeguarding policies and procedures. Practice evaluations
and audits demonstrate that these are implemented in practice.

Policies should include training for staff regarding child sexual abuse, including
an action plan regarding how to investigate allegations of such abuse.

Guidance on how to investigate child sexual abuse is set out in London Child Protection
Procedures and Practice Guidance which must be adhered to. https://www.londoncp.co.uk/

8. Care planning
Children should not be kept for long periods in children’s homes.

Under the Children Act 1989 duties, for all children we try and place them in family settings,
but where this is not possible or appropriate, they may be placed in foster care or residential
children’s homes.

Children should be involved in decisions about their lives and who will care
for them. Specific action decisions about a child must be carried through.
Foster placements should not be physically isolated.

Children are involved in decision-making subject to their age and understanding. The children
looked after reviewing process ensures decisions/action plans are completed.
We have a variety of foster placements in different locations to meet a range of needs in line
with our Sufficiency Strategy.

Page 54

Policies and procedures should be in place to safeguard children. They
must be actually implemented.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 29

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATION BY WITNESS/
CORE PARTICIPANT

LAMBETH COUNCIL RESPONSE

8. Care planning
There should be a reduction of multiple moves between care and foster
placements. Constant moves undermine stability and any trust a child can
have in the people around them. This further reduces the possibility of a
child feeling able to tell anyone about abuse. Similarly, there should be
limited staff turnover, which is also disruptive.

Lambeth actively monitors placement moves for children and reviews the data on this every
month. In some instances, a child moves a placement for a positive reason, in other cases
it is due to a placement breakdown. Managers oversee cases where there are placement
breakdowns by looking at support needs of the placement to try and stabilise the placement
and reduce further moves.
Lambeth have a Workforce Board which is developing measures to retain a stable workforce
and reduce staff turnover.

9. Allocated social workers
All children in care have an allocated social worker. They also have an Independent
Reviewing Officer.

10. Voice of the child and responding to allegations of
child sexual abuse
The approach to children placed in care should be child-centred. The child,
his or her experience and their feelings about where they are should be at
the centre of institutional work around children. The child’s feelings have
value; their pain matters.

We have multiple mechanisms through which children and young people’s voices can be
heard so that they can feel empowered to share their experiences. As part of our Action Plan,
we are committed to amplifying their voices to ensure that ‘organisational listening’
is embedded in our working culture.

Children in local authority care should have access to someone
independent who can have independent meetings with the child. Children
need someone who can act as an independent sounding board – like a
nurse, or an advocate; someone the children can speak to.

Addressed in the Voice of the Child theme in Action Plan (Action 1.4), Lambeth commissions
an Independent Advocacy service to provide this.

There should be a support network around each child and more than one
avenue by which a child can make a complaint. Keeping children connected
to wider family members also reduces their vulnerability.

Children and young people in care have access to Independent Advocates. They also have
access to their social worker and Independent Reviewing Officer. All children are advised
how to make a complaint through a trusted adult in their support network. The Council has a
statutory duty to promote contact between children in care and their families, which is reviewed
on an ongoing basis to ensure it meets the needs of children.

Page 55

Children in care should always have an allocated independent social worker.
The social workers should work closely with the children they are assigned
to so that the children can build trust and confide in them.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 30

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATION BY WITNESS/
CORE PARTICIPANT

LAMBETH COUNCIL RESPONSE

10. Voice of the child and responding to allegations of
child sexual abuse
lf a child reports any allegations of sexual abuse, immediate investigations
should be carried out with coordination and cooperation between childcare
authorities and the police. The alleged abuser must be stopped immediately
from ongoing contact with children.

There is statutory guidance for multi-agency co-operation between the council, police and
other agencies, when an allegation is made. The steps to be taken to safeguard children will
include review of any ongoing contact with the alleged perpetrator pending investigation.
If the allegation is against a member of staff, this is dealt with under our formal process to
manage allegations under the Local Authority Designated Officer process.

If a child displays harmful sexual behaviour to another child, the social worker is required
to follow the procedures set out in the London Child Protection Procedures and Practice
Guidance.
https://www.londoncp.co.uk/ch_harm_others.html?zoom_highlight=harmful+sexual
The child should be questioned in a safe environment away from their
caregivers to ensure they feel able to share. A child should never be
punished for disclosing abuse. Rather, he or she must feel they will be
protected if they come forward to disclose sexual abuse.

Procedures are in place to ensure children feel supported and safe to report abuse. Children
are spoken to in a safe place on their own, and they will be supported to give evidence
following the Achieving Best Evidence in Criminal Proceedings guidance, which sets out
guidance on interviewing victims and witnesses, and guidance on using special measures
for children with communication difficulties. We will also provide them with an advocate and
therapeutic support.
https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/legal_guidance/best_evidence_in_
criminal_proceedings.pdf

Children should be listened to properly when abuse is alleged. Authorities
are too quick to dismiss children when they speak out about their sexual
abuse. Simple disbelief causes long-term psychological damage.

Under the Children Act 1989, the child’s welfare is paramount and must be safeguarded.
There are clear procedures that all professionals must follow when abuse is reported.
All professionals take allegations seriously and investigate them thoroughly in liaison with
the Police.

All complaints should be effectively documented by those to whom they
are reported.

Under the Children Act 1989, it is a statutory requirement for the Council to have an
established complaints process which along with child protection procedures requires timely
and accurate record keeping.

Page 56

If the allegation is against an adult, then it will be investigated under London Child Protection
Procedures and Practice Guidance.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 31

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATION BY WITNESS/
CORE PARTICIPANT

LAMBETH COUNCIL RESPONSE

10. Voice of the child and responding to allegations of
child sexual abuse
The Achieving Best Evidence in Criminal Proceedings Guidance ensures this.

Protocols and guidelines are implemented to promote transparency within
police investigations.

This recommendation is for the Police.

Counselling and other support should be provided to a child who has
made an allegation of abuse. The counselling provided ought to be by an
organisation or agency that has specialist expertise in working with young
people who have been affected by and experienced sexual abuse.

Children are offered counselling and support through the Children Looked After Mental
Health Service (CLAMHS), a multi-disciplinary team that provides assessment, care
and intervention for children and young people in care, up to the age of 18.

Support should also be provided to the victim or survivor after he or she has
spoken to police or participated in a trial.

Children are offered support through our Children Looked After Mental Health Service.

After care support is vital. Care leavers should be provided with proper
support to cover basic human necessities. At minimum, the authorities must
ensure care leavers have somewhere to live and to cook.

Statutory responsibilities for children leaving care extend to up to 25 years of age. Advice
and support that must be provided to care leavers is set out in the Children & Social Work
Act 2017.

There should be a transparent child-centred complaints procedure in place
that is understood by children, staff, volunteers and families. The complaints
policy must outline roles and responsibilities, approaches to dealing with
different types of complaints and obligations to act and report. Complaints
must be taken seriously, responded to promptly and thoroughly, and
reporting, privacy and employment law obligations met. Children, staff,
volunteers and families should know who to talk to if they are worried
or are feeling unsafe. Information should be provided in accessible,
age-appropriate and meaningful formats to children and families who use
the service, mindful of their diverse characteristics, cultural backgrounds
and abilities.

Lambeth has an established Complaints process and allegations which is a statutory
requirement. The Complaints Team have a leaflet for children which was co-produced with
children in care.
Team managers and social workers provide these leaflets to children and young people
and provide links on the Council’s website to enable them to make a complaint. All children
and young people in care wishing to make a complaint are also offered the support of
an Independent Advocate. We have an annual report on Children’s Complaints that is
reported to elected Members which enables us to learn lessons to improve accessibility,
our communications about the complaints service, and to improve our services.

Page 57

When police interview a child, someone should be present who has
experienced abuse and can understand the child and ensure they are
treated with respect.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 32

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATION BY WITNESS/
CORE PARTICIPANT

LAMBETH COUNCIL RESPONSE

11. Revision of section 9 of the Children Act 1989
Section 9 of the Act restricts the powers of a court so that it may not make
orders under section 8 of the Act in respect of children who are in care.
Section 8 orders include contact orders, residence orders, prohibited steps
orders and specific issue orders. Removing the statutory restriction set out
in section 9 would reduce the discrimination between children in care and
those not in care.

Lambeth has provided written legal submissions dated 26 August 2020 to the Inquiry on
this issue. IICSA has stated it will revisit the issue in their final report due to be published in
summer 2022 and would also require a change in law by government.

Page 58

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 33

Page 59

Glossary

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 34

A–Z
C

Cabinet
The group of councillors, chosen by the Leader of the
Council to lead on specific policy areas. A Cabinet
member may also be referred to as a ‘Lead Member’.

Children looked after
A child is looked after if they are in the care of, or
provided with accommodation by a local authority for
more than 24 hours. Children looked after may also be
described as being ‘in care’.
Code of Conduct
A document providing a clear set of standards with
regards to conduct, attitude and behaviour.
Constructive challenge
A culture of constructive challenge occurs when
staff feel confident in expressing their views including
talking truth to power in a way that leads to positive
change and not to conflict.

Corporate Parenting
When a child or young person becomes looked after,
parental responsibility transfers to the local authority;
this is referred to as corporate parenting.
Corporate Parenting Board
Corporate Parenting Board assists the Council in
fulfilling its obligations and responsibilities towards
children looked after and care leavers and ensures
ongoing improvements for them, in consultation with
our Children in Care Council.
Corporate Parenting Pledge
Lambeth’s set of promises that give ‘children looked
after and young people the guarantee that we’ll
provide consistent support to improve their life
chances and quality of life’.
Corporate Parenting Principles
A set of seven nationally agreed principles that guide
how we carry out our role as corporate parents,
including taking into account the views, wishes and
feelings of our children and young people and

promoting high aspirations for those children and
young people.
Corporate safeguarding
Lambeth’s approach to safeguarding across all council
services, ensuring all officers and elected members
fulfil their duties and responsibilities to safeguard and
promote the welfare of children, young people and
adults at risk of abuse, neglect and exploitation.
Cultural competency
Sensitivity to cross-cultural differences and the ability
to adapt to other cultural environments, or awareness
of cultural influences on a person’s thoughts and
behaviours.

D

Disclosure and Barring Service
The Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) helps
employers make safer recruitment decisions by
processing and issuing DBS checks on spent
and unspent convictions, cautions, reprimands
and warnings that are held on the Police National
Computer.

E

Exit interview
An interview held with an employee about to leave
an organisation, usually in order to understand their
reasons for leaving and discuss their experience of
working for the organisation.

Page 60

Children in Care Council
A group of children looked after and care leavers who
share their own experiences of being in care and
advocate for other children looked after. They ensure
children and young people are heard and included
when decisions are being made. Lambeth’s Children
in Care Council is called ‘Visions of Success (VoS).

Core Participant (IICSA)
An individual or an institution that played, or may have
played a direct or significant role in relation to the
matters to which the Inquiry relates; has a significant
interest in an important matter to which the Inquiry
relates; or may be subject to explicit or significant
criticism during the Inquiry proceedings or in a report
prepared by the Inquiry.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 35

F

Fostering Recruitment Strategy
Lambeth’s approach to attracting and retaining foster
carers to deliver high quality placements that meet our
children’s needs.

H

I

Independent Visitor & Advocacy Services
Volunteers who are matched with a child or young
person looked after, to provide friendship and support
or to help children and young people looked after
understand their rights and become more involved in
important decisions about their lives.
Induction
The process a new member of staff goes through to
be introduced to the company and their new role.

L

Lambeth Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP)
The LSCP is a group of statutory and voluntary
organisations working with and for children and young
people in Lambeth with the goal of helping every child
to realise their talents, achieve their full potential, have
healthy lives and be safe.

M

Management Board
Lambeth’s most senior officers responsible for
managing the organisation, led by the Chief Executive.
Member (elected)
A person who has been elected by the people in a
particular area to represent them within the council.
Members are often also referred to as ‘councillors’.
Member / Officer Protocols
A framework for the interaction between elected
Members and officers, in order to ensure that the
Members and officers work together effectively and
efficiently to conduct the business of the Council.

N

Nolan Principles of Public Office
The Nolan Principles are a set of seven principles
outlining the ethical standards those working in the
public sector are expected to adhere to. They are also
sometimes called The Seven Principles of Public Life.

O

Organisational Development Strategy
A planned approach to improve organisational
performance through aligning strategy, people and
processes. The strategy provides a framework to
address issues such as skills, culture and leadership.

P

Peer Review
A review of a process or service by organisations who
have current or previous experience in that sector, to
provide challenge, support and guidance on specific
areas or issues.
Process review
An assessment of how a current process is being
carried out and the identification of how this could be
improved.

Page 61

Harmful Sexual Behaviour
Harmful sexual behaviour (HSB) is developmentally
inappropriate sexual behaviour which is displayed by
children and young people and which may be harmful
or abusive. It can be displayed towards younger
children, peers, older children or adults. It’s harmful to
the children and young people who display it, as well
as those it is directed towards.

Integrated dashboard
A data visualisation tool that tracks, analyses, and
displays performance, metrics, and data points from
a multiple range of data sources.

Lambeth Council IICSA Action Plan (DRAFT) / page 36

Q

U

R

W

Quality assurance
The systematic and regular monitoring and evaluation
of social care practice, with the aim of improving, to
achieve better outcomes for children and families.

S

Whistleblowing Policy
A framework to encourage staff to feel confident
raising concerns about any aspect of the Council’s
work, without fear of victimisation, subsequent
discrimination or disadvantage.

Staff Code of Conduct
A document providing a clear set of standards for
staff so that they know what is expected of them
with regards to their conduct, attitude and behaviour
during their employment with the Council.

Witness (IICSA)
Someone who provides evidence to the Inquiry. For
example, a witness may provide the Inquiry with a
witness statement or documents. Witnesses may also
be asked to attend to give oral evidence during
a public hearing.

Supportive challenge
Supportive challenge describes the skill of providing
challenge in a way that makes it easier for others to
accept challenge and therefore respond receptively
and constructively, so that the conversation can move
forward to solutions.

Workforce Development Strategy
Lambeth Children’s Services Workforce Development
Strategy sets out the objectives and activities needed
to support the social care workforce in achieving
positive outcomes for our children and families.

Page 62

Register of Interests
A record kept of any business or personal interest
that may influence how an officer or elected member
carries out their role, particularly in decision making
and financial matters.

UNICEF Child Friendly Lambeth
A UNICEF led initiative Lambeth is working on that
helps communities make sure the voices, needs,
priorities and rights of children are an integral part of
public policies, programmes and decisions.

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 65

Proposal Title *
IICSA Action Plan

Author
Eibhlin McInerney
Lucy Sawyer
Please provide name of lead author and/or those within project team who may be required to contribute to this assessment

Who will sign off the assessment?
Paul Bates
Please indicate who will be involved in approving this assessment. This will need to be signed off by the Director

Q1a. What is changing?
The council is developing and implementing an action plan in response to the July 2021
report regarding Lambeth, published by the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse
﴾IICSA﴿. The action plan is one of the key recommendations made in the report, alongside
the suggestion that the action plan be published within six months of the report date.
The action plan encompasses a diverse set of actions and deliverables separated into
seven thematic groupings to ensure that the findings and recommendations from the
report are fully addressed. These include Voice of the Child and Organisational Culture.
Primarily the action plan will be delivering cross‐council assurance and service
improvement activities, along with significant culture change. The focus of these activities
is on reviewing, quality assuring and where necessary updating processes, practices and
procedures already in place. Actions will be undertaken by the organisation through
existing service operations and change programmes.
The key objective of the action plan is to ensure children's views and voices and their safety
is truly at the heart of our decision‐making at all levels of the organisation. The action plan
aims to achieve this by:
reflecting the learnings from our past failures to children in our care;
strengthening the current processes, policies, systems and procedures that safeguard
children in our care and care leavers;
strengthening our leadership and governance and,
transforming our organisational and political culture.

Page 66

What is the most significant or key change taking place? Can you indicate the type of change in your response ﴾e.g.
policy/decision/strategy/ service/procedural/ geographic/procurement etc.﴿ so it is clear what is being equalities
assessed? Why is this change happening? What do you aim to achieve? Can you clearly indicate what decision‐makers
are being asked to take a decision on?

Read more

Here you will need to describe clearly and briefly what this change is about ﴾i.e. service change, policy review/update,
decision﴿? Compared against what we do currently, what will be different? Can you explain what will happen if this is
approved and when will it be implemented? How will the EIA inform your business case, tender specification, for
example?

Q1b. Who will be involved in approving this decision?
Cabinet, the Leader, Lead Member for Children's Services, Strategic Director
Children's Services, Chief Executive
Who else will be involved in signing‐off this decision?

Read more

Please detail any project sponsors, ﴾Head of Service, Directors cabinet member/s, legal, partners﴿ Note: Any reports
that go to anyone needing to take decisions must refer to this equalities analysis so they can consider the effects of
the proposals on different groups before and during decision‐making.

Q2a. What do we know about the people who will be impacted by this
change?
Key stakeholder groups identified as being potentially impacted by the
implementation of the action plan:
Children looked after
We hold data including protected characteristics on all children looked after.
The data held shows that a disproportionately high number of children in
our care are from Black, Asian or Multi Ethnic backgrounds, when
compared to the Lambeth populace overall. In addition, significant
numbers of children in our care have a disability or additional health and
educational needs.
Of 376 Children Looked After in Lambeth ﴾July 2021﴿:
55% are male and 45% are female
11% are Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children
30% have a disability
52% are Black, Black British, 24% mixed origin, 16% White, 4%
Other/not stated, 3% Asian, Asian British
87% are in good or outstanding schools
27% have an Education, Health and Care Plan
35% have a mental health assessment score showing cause for

concern and triggering referral to Children Looked After Mental Health
Page 67
Service
Care leavers
We hold data including protected characteristics on young people who
have left the care of Lambeth. Similarly to data held on children looked
after it reflects a high proportion of young people from Black, Asian or
Multi Ethnic Backgrounds.
Of 370 Care Leavers in Lambeth ﴾July 2021﴿:
66% are male and 34% are female
25% have a disability
62% are Black, Black British, 14% mixed origin, 16% White, 7%
Other/not stated, 6% Asian, Asian British
74% 17‐18 yr olds, 63% 19‐21 yr olds, 70% 18‐25 yr olds in
employment education or training
85% within 20 miles
83 remained with foster carer ﴾age 18﴿, 30 remained with foster carer
﴾19‐20 yr olds﴿
86% 17/18 in suitable accommodation
80% 19‐21 in suitable accommodation
Councillors
EDI information held on councillors is limited to age and sex, with the
majority of councillors being male.
All council staff
EDI information including protected characteristics is held on all council
staff. This shows the majority of the workforce identifying as Black, Asian
of Multi Ethnic and the majority of the workforce as female. There are
relatively low numbers of council staff with a disclosed disability or LGBTQ+
identity.
59% of the workforce identify as being Black, Asian or Mutli Ethnic
60% of the workforce identify as female
9.6% of the workforce have disclosed having a disability
8% of the workforce have disclosed that they identify as LGBTQ+
Commissioned services and contractors
We do not hold EDI data on our commissioned services or contractors.
What does your information tell you about the people who will affected by this change? Are protected groups
impacted? What information do you hold on the protected characteristics of the people affected by the change? ﴾Age,
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or belief, gender, sexual orientation,
health, socio‐economic, language﴿ Are there any gaps or missing information?

Read more

This is an opportunity for you to share what you understand about the people who will be affected by what is being
proposed whether now and/or potentially in the future. Do you know whether they are from protected groups? What

does you service level profile data tell you about them? What if anything does your current and previous

Page 68

consultations, surveys, complaints, contract monitoring data, equalities data monitoring ﴾including from partners and
other service areas﴿ reveal about these people and their needs or issues that may be connected/relevant to this
change? Are there any gaps in your data? If yes, please note we are under a legal duty to be properly informed before
making a decision. If the relevant data is not available we are under a duty to obtain it and this will often mean some
consultation with appropriate groups is required. You will need to provide a reason or justification for why you have
missing data/information. You may have to address this by including plans to generate this information within your
action plan and responses to questions 3a, 3b and 4.

Q2b. How will they be impacted by the change?
The action plan will be delivering service improvement, assurance, and
constructive culture change. We anticipate that this would lead to overall
positive or neutral impacts for all identified groups to varying degrees.
Children looked after and care leavers – positive impact
The overarching aims of the action plan underpin positive equalities
impacts for children looked after, in particular responding to the inquiry
findings that Black and ethnic minority children were overrepresented in
Lambeth’s children’s homes and faced additional hardships with some
subject to overt racism alongside discrimination.
We know that a high proportion of children looked after are Black, Asian or
Multi Ethnic, which is disproportionately high to overall borough ethnicity
makeup. The plan makes sure we have mechanisms in place which are
sensitive to and allow our children looked after to share their unique
experiences, impacted by their identity and intersectionality.
The plan also gives strong commitment to amplifying the voice of the child
and working collaboratively to devise and monitor approaches and
strategies to safeguarding and building strong relationships.
We also expect positive impacts for our children and young people to be
felt through commitments in the action plan to continue the development
and implementation of our Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Action Plan,
and ensuring that Lambeth has a recognised culture and practices which
empowers staff to flag and challenge discriminatory practice and be
effective advocates within our communities and to those who use our
services.
This drive toward an inclusive workforce will be crucial in delivering positive
equalities impacts for our children and young people, as consultation with
children and young people looked after made clear that the ability to build
meaningful relationships with social workers would enable them to feel
confident discussing experiences and increase the likelihood of making a
disclosure.
Councillors – positive impact
Although we do not collect comprehensive equalities data for councillors
and so the impact of the plan on any one characteristic within this group
would be difficult to gauge, we anticipate that the commitments within the
action plan to the ongoing development and implementation of Lambeth’s
EDI action plan alongside fostering a culture of supportive challenge for
councillors to operate within would underpin an overall positive equalities

impact.

Page 69

All council staff – positive impact
Findings from the IICSA report were clear that racism and sexism had been
issues for council staff during the periods investigated. Thusly actions
within the plan which may impact council staff are primarily concerned with
the ongoing development of an inclusive and collaborative working culture
with transparent and supportive working practices. This is encompassed in
several of the action plan themes, with specific actions including ongoing
work on the organisational development strategy, and EDI action plan, with
new dashboards in place to monitor progress against an honest and
supportive culture.
Not all equalities characteristics are routinely and consistently disclosed by
council staff, making impact in some areas difficult to assess. We anticipate
however that the ongoing commitment to EDI and working culture within
the action plan would lead to increased reporting in time.
Commissioned services and contractors ‐ neutral impact
Actions within the plan that involve our commissioned services and
contractors centre on continuing to improve services and outcomes for our
children and young people through review of current working practices and
frameworks. We do not therefore anticipate there being any equalities
impacts affecting this group.
Would you assess the impact as positive, adverse, neutral? Do you have any uncertainty about the impact of your
proposal? Is there a likelihood that some people will more impacted than others? Can you describe the ways in which
they will be affected? How might this change affect our ‘general duty’

Read more

Q3a. How do you plan to promote and deliver any positive impacts of the
proposal?
Our action plan programme will have a dedicated communications
workstream that will promote positive impacts of the action plan to key
stakeholders, wider community and the public, with strong consideration
for the equality characteristics that have been identified.
Particular consideration will of course be given to communicating with our
children looked after and care leavers as the primary cohort affected by the
action plan. All actions affecting children looked after and care leavers are
held in one workstream led by Children’s Services, and we will ensure
strong collaborative working between workstreams to ensure all messaging
and communication is accessible and appropriate.
Key actions within the plan which support measurement and tracking of
positive outcomes include the development of an integrated performance
dashboard to monitor progress against organisational development
objectives, alongside the commissioning of an independent peer review of
organisational culture within Lambeth.

How might the principles of fairness, equality of opportunity and positive

Page 70

relationships be further promoted as a consequence of this proposal? How
do you propose to measure your positive outcomes and the benefits outlined
to find out if these have been achieved?

Read more

Is there a possibility that you will need to treat certain people differently, to enhance positive outcomes because of
greater need; disadvantage; experience of less favourable outcomes, etc.? What opportunities exist to support
Lambeth’s statutory duty to promote equalities? How does this contribute to your departmental service plan and/or
the council’s corporate priorities?

Q3b How do you plan to address and mitigate any negative impacts of the
proposal?
It is not anticipated there will be any negative equalities impacts as a result
of the action plan.
The action plan will be delivered using programme methodology that will
undertake impact analyses as needed throughout delivery of the plan, with
emphasis on the themes of Voice of the Child, Organisational Culture and
Social Work Practice.
The programme management will develop and sequence plans to optimise
the positive impacts identified and mitigate or reduce any negative impact
should it become apparent.
Dependency management will be undertaken with other related or cross
council programmes and projects using the Programme Performance
service. By doing this we aim to reduce any potential negative impact of
this action plan on others already in progress across the business. As
although we do not foresee any negative equalities impact from this action
plan in its own right, we must ensure it does not impede other workflows
which may be delivering positive impacts in this area.
Risk management will be implemented in accordance with Lambeth's risk
management strategy.
The governance of the action plan has been set across four workstreams,
each led at Strategic Director level, and with broad representation across all
directorates. This will enable strong council wide oversight and early
identification of any negative impacts not identified previously.
What impact has this evidence had on what you are proposing? What can you do differently that might lessen the
impact on people within the timeframes i.e. development‐implementation? Who can help you to develop these
solutions?

Read More

What actions can you take to reduce the impacts that you have identified? Are your actions SMART?
Specific, significant, stretching

Measurable, meaningful, motivational
Agreed upon, attainable, achievable, acceptable, action‐oriented

Page 71

Realistic, relevant, reasonable, rewarding, results‐oriented
Time‐based, time‐bound, timely, tangible, trackable
Who will be responsible for making sure these happen? How can you show you have taken these steps? What
evidence can you provide? Please note developing mitigating actions is an essential part of the EIA process. These
should comprehensive and clearly align with the issues identified. If there are significant negative impacts without
mitigation it is the responsibility of the decision maker/sponsor to challenge and request officers go back to the
drawing board.

Q4. How will you review/evaluate your proposal, mitigating actions and/or
benefits? Who will be responsible for this?
The delivery and oversight of the action plan will have a strong multi
layered governance structure, through both internal measures ﴾with ultimate
review at Cabinet﴿ and that commissioned externally, including through the
Lambeth Safeguarding Children Partnership via independent scrutiny of
social care practice within discreet reviews and evaluations, as well as a
commissioned LGA Peer Review on organisational culture.
Outcome metrics and measures will be developed by the programme
managers alongside business leads and owners of deliverables will be
assigned so that there is accountability and resilience, and to mitigate drift
and non‐delivery.
The deliverables in the action plan will be quality assured by workstream
leads who are all members of the executive management team, with a
programme team in place to track deliverables, outputs and outcomes and
provide regular monitoring and reporting. Progress of the action plan will
report into the IICSA Board chaired by the Chief Executive.
We will use mature feedback mechanisms to measure benefits: surveys,
social care audits, supervision, visits, peer reviews.
Who will you be accountable to for the above actions/outcome? How will those responsible know these actions have
worked? What performance indicators will you use to demonstrate this? Are there any other forms of evidence you can
use to support this assessment of their effectiveness?

Read more

Section to be completed by Sponsor/Director/Head of Service

Outcome of equality impact assessment

Page 72
Read more

No adverse impact, no change required ‐ No potential for discrimination or negative impact identified
opportunities to promote equality addressed
Low adverse impact, minor adjustment needed ‐ Adjustments needed to address negative impact all actions
detailed within Q3a
Significant adverse impact, further action required ‐ The analysis has identified some potential for negative
impact or some missed opportunities to promote equality which it may not be possible to mitigate fully. If you plan
to continue with proposals you will need to be satisfied that your officers have shown due regard and taken all
necessary steps ﴾as detailed within Q3a﴿ to remove and/or alleviate any negative impacts ﴾e.g. gathering
supplementary data, consultation, specific action taken, etc.﴿ to better promote equality and have included these
within any implementation and/or service plans. It may be advisable to seek further advice including legal, where
significant impact has been found.
Unlawful in/direct discrimination, stop and rethink ‐ Equality analysis shows actual or potential unlawful
discrimination. Do not proceed.

Comments from Sponsor/Director/Head of Service

Submit for approval
Pending

Executive Approval
Pending

Attachments
Close

Page 73

Agenda Item 4

CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 7 DECEMBER 2021
Report title: 2021-22 Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee Work Programme
Wards: All
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance: Councillor Andy Wilson
Report Authorised by: Interim Director of Legal and Governance: Andrew Pavlou
Contact for enquiries: David Rose, Democratic Services Officer, 020 7926 1037,
drose@lambeth.gov.uk

REPORT SUMMARY
This report sets out the Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee’s work programme as currently
drafted and provides a record of recommendations and actions arising from previous meetings
(Appendix 1).

FINANCE SUMMARY
There are no financial implications beyond the existing Scrutiny budget.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1.

To consider and approve the work programme as currently drafted (Appendix 1) and identify and
prioritise matters for future scrutiny of Children’s Services.

Page 74
1.

CONTEXT

1.1

The Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee (CSSSC) was established in April 2017 and its
Chair, Councillor Joshua Lindsey, also sits on Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) to ensure
coordination of work between the two bodies, eliminate potential duplication and feed in findings
between the two meetings, where relevant. This is the second meeting in the Children’s Services
Scrutiny Sub-Committee of the 2021-22 municipal year.

1.2

1.3

Terms of Reference
The Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee terms of reference are detailed in Lambeth
Council’s Constitution, page 61, as follows:
a.
The provision, planning and management of children and young people’s services –
including education, learning and schools; youth services; early years; education capital
estate; children’s social care; safeguarding children; children with learning disabilities;
children in care; troubled families and the Youth Offending Service (YOS).
Meetings and Membership
The 21 April 2021 AGM of the Full Council also agreed the Committee membership and meeting
dates for the 2021-22 municipal year.

1.4

Three meetings of the Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee are scheduled in 2021-22 as
follow:
a.
30 June 2021;
b.
07 December 2021; and,
c.
15 March 2022.

1.5

The Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee membership for 2021-22 is:
a.
Councillor Joshua Lindsey (Chair)
b.
Councillor Marcia Cameron
c.
Councillor Joe Corry-Roake
d.
Councillor Nicole Griffiths
e.
Councillor Mohamed Jaser
f.
Councillor Jane Pickard
g.
Councillor Marcia Cameron
h.
Lynette Murphy-O’Dwyer (Southwark Roman Catholic Schools Commission, Church cooptee)
i.
Frank Roberts (Southwark Church of England Diocesan Board of Education, Church cooptee)
j.
Baboucarr Jallow (Parent Governor Representatives, co-optee)
k.
Simon Funnell (Parent Governor Representatives, co-optee)

2.

PROPOSAL AND REASONS

2.1

The Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee may set its own agenda within the scope of its
terms of reference and this report serves to invite the Sub-Committee to consider its work
programme at each meeting. Although some flexibility needs to be retained to enable items to be
added at relatively short notice, planning the Committee’s work programme facilitates scrutiny of
those matters Members consider to be a priority, assists in the commissioning of reports and helps
ensure that matters are considered in a timely manner.

2.2

The Sub-Committee’s work programme and action monitoring table are attached at Appendix 1.
The work programme is updated following completion of any actions or recommendations arising

Page 75
or timetabling of new items. The work programme should be monitored at each meeting to ensure
that previous actions and requests have been completed in full.
2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

When considering which items to include in the work programme the following questions can
usefully be asked of each proposed topic:
a.
are statutory requirements being met effectively?
b.
are quality services being delivered?
c.
are any audits or external inspections due?
d.
are the specific needs of user groups being met?
e.
does the service compare well with neighbouring/other comparable authorities and against
national performance indicators?
f.
is the service an improving one?
g.
does the service know what changes are imminent or likely and are preparations being
made?
h.
is this a priority for the Council?
Borough Plan
Lambeth’s Borough Plan sets out the outcomes and objectives that the Council is trying to achieve;
these can be a useful tool for scrutiny members in their holding to account role; and, to support the
consideration, identification, and prioritisation of work programme items. The Borough Plan is
based around five big ambitions:
a.
enable sustainable growth and investment;
b.
increase community resilience;
c.
promote care and independence by reforming services;
d.
make Lambeth a place where people want to live, work and invest; and,
e.
be passionate about equality, strengthening diversity, and delivering inclusion.
External Inspections
Ofsted Inspection Lambeth Children’s Services
The findings from the Ofsted inspection of Lambeth’s Children’s Services (Inspection of services
for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers) was published
on 9 May 2018. Ofsted’s overall conclusion was that Children’s Services in Lambeth ‘requires
improvement to be good’ and were therefore no longer ‘inadequate’. However, the adoption
performance sub-judgement was that this service remains ‘inadequate’.
Ofsted made 12 recommendations for further progress, including:
a.
recruit enough adopters to meet the need of children in Lambeth;
b.
consider how to better engage young people who are gang affiliated, leaving custody, and
those who have more entrenched criminal behaviours, so that they achieve better outcomes;
c.
improve the frequency, quality and consistency of management oversight and supervision in
all teams;
d.
ensure that supervision is regular, reflective and challenging, and that managers record the
rationale for their case decisions;
e.
improve the quality of assessments so that the lived experiences of children are fully
understood and inform plans;
f.
develop an approach for assessing and responding to children detained in custody;
g.
improve oversight of children in care with substance misuse difficulties and ensure that
services and interventions are sufficient for them to receive the right help at the right time;
and,
h.
offer more practical and timely help to ensure that young people leaving care gain the skills
and attitudes they need to better engage in education, employment or training.

Page 76
2.7

2.8

2.9

Focused visit to Lambeth local authority children's services
There was a further focused visit to Lambeth local authority children’s services on 9 and 10 April
2019 to evaluate the quality-of-care planning for children in care and the timeliness of permanence
arrangement for children who are unable to live with their birth parents.
In addition to the findings as noted in the 8 May 2019 publication, Ofsted noted the following
improvements in this area of social work practice:
a.
early permanence planning;
b.
oversight of permanence planning by IROs and managers;
c.
the quality and timeliness of permanence planning meetings;
d.
the quality and timeliness of permanence planning meetings; and,
e.
performance data relating to permanence.
Youth Offending Service Inspection
The Youth Offending Service (YOS) has been subject to progress reporting to scrutiny on securing
improvement and responding to the findings of the full joint inspection of the service conducted by
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation published in April 2019.

2.10 Arising from the annual Overview and Scrutiny Crime and Disorder Committee and the focus on
serious youth violence, OSC recommended that the Children’s Services Scrutiny Sub-Committee
considers whether the educational/training programmes offered by the Youth Offending Services
are:
a.
sufficiently targeted;
b.
up to date; and,
c.
meeting clients’ needs.
2.11 This was subsequently discussed at the 18 June 2020 Sub-Committee (Appendix 2).
SEND Inspection
2.12 SEND inspection of local area services for children and young people with special educational
needs and/or disabilities was published in March 2020.
2.13 The local SEND offer and the findings and recommendations of the inspection was considered by
the Sub-Committee on 07 October 2020, which made the following recommendations:
a.
that the Council continue to support the work of the Fair Access Panel and should have an
ambition of zero exclusions;
b.
that more support be provided for families with English as an Additional Language, including
the recruitment of a diverse workforce within schools;
c.
that as far as possible, to ensure that children with SEND are not excluded, and that their
needs are met at an early stage;
d.
that exclusion data be harmonised across schools and checked for accuracy;
e.
that schools and families be encouraged to engage with support services such as CAMHS at
an early stage;
f.
that the Council and schools improve communications on exclusions with parents and young
people and give them a voice during the process, including access to independent advocacy;
g.
that the use of internal exclusions be monitored to ensure the provision of proper education
and to prevent children missing mainstream educational activities;
h.
that all communications relating to exclusion be made with parents and carers, rather than
solely via children; and,
i.
that support for the transition from primary to secondary school be strengthened.
Performance Information

Page 77
2.14 Information on performance across all matters within Lambeth’s Children’s Services is contained in
the Quarterly Budget and Performance report. This information may support development of the
Sub-Committee’s annual work plan and identify priority issues for future scrutiny.
Forward Plan
2.15 The Forward Plan lists all key decisions that the Council (including the Health and Wellbeing
Board) will take over the coming months. A key decision is defined as an executive decision which
will:
a.
Require an amendment to the Community Plan Outcomes Framework or require a
recommendation to Council to amend the Budget and Policy Framework; and/or,
b.
Result in the local authority incurring expenditure, raising income or making savings in
excess of £500,000; and/or,
c.
Have a significant community impact on:
i.
communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in Lambeth;
ii.
the wellbeing of the community or the quality of service provided to a significant
number of people living or working in an area; or,
iii.
communities of interest.
2.16 The Plan is therefore a useful tool for identifying forthcoming decisions where the committee could
add value.

3.

FINANCE

3.1

There are no additional capital or revenue implications arising as a direct result of this report. The
work programme will be undertaken within the existing budget provision for Scrutiny within the
Democratic Services department within the Legal and Governance directorate.

4.

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY

4.1

There are no legal implications, but advice on specific work programme items may be provided in
the future.

4.2

There are no additional comments from Democratic Services.

5.

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION

5.1

All Members of the Council are entitled to suggest items for scrutiny work programmes in
accordance with the Council’s scrutiny procedure rules (Constitution Part 3, Section B, pages 61 –
77). Suggestions are also invited specifically from scrutiny members as part of their community
leadership role and from members of the public. The Council’s website includes a form for the
submission of suggestions and for public notice questions.

6.

RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1

None.

7.

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

An Equalities Impact Assessment of the work programme has not been undertaken. Reports
commissioned by the Sub-Committee will be expected to address any equalities issues. Any

Page 78
recommendations arising from commissions will have equalities implications considered at the
drafting stage.

8.

COMMUNITY SAFETY

8.1

None.

9.

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
Not applicable.

9.2

Health
Not applicable.

9.3

Corporate Parenting
None as a result of this report, although the Sub-Committee will consider reports relating to the
Council’s Corporate Parenting responsibilities.

9.4

Staffing and accommodation
Not applicable.

9.5

Responsible Procurement
Not applicable.

10. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
10.1 See Appendix 1.

Page 79
AUDIT TRAIL
Name and Position/Title
Hamant Bharadia,
Assistant Director for
Strategic Finance
Andrew Pavlou, Legal
Services
Maria Burton, Democratic
Services

Date Sent

Date
Received

Finance and Performance

29.11.21

29.11.21

Legal and Governance

29.11.21

29.11.21

Legal and Governance

29.11.21

29.11.21

Lambeth Directorate

Comments in
paragraph:

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons

Background information

Appendices

N/A
24.11.21
29.11.21
No
No
N/A
N/A
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Full Council AGM 21.04.21
Lambeth Borough Plan
Forward Plan of Key Decisions
Lambeth Council Constitution
Ofsted inspection of services for children in
need of help and protection, children looked
after and care leavers, 9 May 2018
f. Ofsted focused visit to Lambeth local authority
children’s services, 8 May 2019 letter
g. Historic Ofsted activity reports and ratings
h. HMIP inspection of youth offending services in
Lambeth, 25 April 2019
i. Historic Justice Inspectorate reports (YOS)
j. Joint Local Area SEND Inspection of Lambeth,
9 March 2020
Appendix 1 – Children’s Services Scrutiny SubCommittee Work Programme 2021-22

This page is intentionally left blank

CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 2021-22 WORK PROGRAMME
NB: Visits should recommence from the 21 June 2021 once restrictions are lifted.

30 June 2021
Item/Topic

SEND and
Inclusion Strategy

Troubled Families
Programme

Drilldown into the design principles.
Strategy is heavily reliant cross-partnership and multi-level –
how are the different groups and partners working together?
How is the Priority Programme 4: Children with Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities within “Our Children and
Young People’s Plan” being implemented/what is progress?
Update on the High-Level Priority Actions.
Update on Lambeth Adoption with drilldown on regional
agency and how it is working.
Benchmarking on performance and how good are we
(progress since last Ofsted report and since joining of RAA)
Focus on: line-management processes within Lambeth and
how RAA checks or manages potentially differing practices
Case studies / and subsequent Improvement Plans
Relations and working arrangements between the four
London adoption agencies (‘Adopt London’ and not just Adopt
London South)
Progress with programme following extended funded for
20/21.
Plans, strategy and detail on family support going forward,
what happens at the end?
Plans, funding for similar/future national or local programmes.
Links and relevance to the Lambeth Community Early Help
Plan.
Policy development to drive improvement

Lead
Officer

Visits

Witnesses

Jo
SullivanLyons

 Service Users?
Or parent of a
service user
 London
Innovation and
Improvement
Alliance (LIIA)?

Alex
Kubeyinje

 Cllr Jon Davies
 Cllr Nanda
Manley-Browne
 Youth Council
 Service users
 Regional Lead
Officer and
Member

Brenda
McInerney
Kulsuma
Faiz

 User anon
 Case studies
 Funders attend
- MHCLG.

Background
information
Latest SEND
Inspection
LIIA Peer Review

Page 81

Impact of the
London-wide
Regional Adoption
Agency

Aims/Objectives and recommendations

Third annual
report

Take-up from families and issues getting cohort, potential
stigma of programme – comparison between LAs.
How can Scrutiny aid programme and provide oversight in
future?
Pre-meet with Lead Officers: week commencing 21.06.21
Draft deadline: 11 June 2021
Final deadline: 18 June 2021
Agenda publication date: 22 June 2021

CSSSC Member CSSSC Planning Session 12.08.21
To discuss the work programme with CSSSC members and update as necessary for the 07 December 2021 meeting.

Item/Topic

IICSA Action Plan

Aims/Objectives and recommendations
Review of action plan
Improve transparency of Lambeth Report response, arising
actions and related services/delivery.
Assurance of current Council reporting mechanisms and of
service delivery, including escalation of
complaints/whistleblowing (detailing process mapping).
Staff retention

Pre-meet with Lead Officers: 25.11.21
Draft deadline: 19 November 2021
Final deadline: 26 November 2021
Agenda publication date: 27 November 2021

Lead
Officer

Visits

Merlin
Joseph
Fiona
Connolly
Fateha
Salim

St Giles
Foster care
home

Witnesses
 David Goosey,
LSCP
Independent
scrutineer
 Dr Jon Bird,
NAPAC

Background
information

Page 82

7 December 2021

Extraordinary TBC January 2022
Item/Topic

Pupil Place
Planning
Child Friendly
Lambeth

1. Effective use of language to engage cohort and provide
lasting improved outcomes
2. Experience of users and community engagement
3. Aligned to support work to tackle VAWG, racism and
discrimination
4. Successful delivery (providing training and embedding
practices, community leadership, targeting young
people most at risk and building trust, working with
other statutory organisations and delivery partners, use
of wider collective impact model; inequality gap, input of
users into making and delivering strategy, ensuring safe
local environments)
5. Relation to and inter-working with Lambeth Made Safer
Strategy/other strategies
6. Development from previous Youth Strategies (issues
identified or solved or lasting (what worked and what
needs further improvement; and what has changed)
7. Young people’s mental health
8. Impacts arising from C-19 2019-21 and long-term
effects on youth.
9. Employability - Employment outcomes and
employability; 10-year outcomes and delivery on
priorities to be a framework for scrutiny activity
To scrutinise proposals after January Cabinet.
Annual Schools reporting on PPP numbers, exclusions,
etc. for each school – appendix.
1. Family travel and air pollution
2. What are the issues facing children in the borough?

Lead
Officer

Visits

Youth Centre
Melissa
McArthur

School
Youth
Council
meeting

Witnesses

 Natalie Creary,
Black Thrives
Programme
Delivery
Director
 Cllr Hashi,
Deputy CM for
Youth
 User groups
 Youth centre
workers
 Other statutory
 Youth Council

Background
information

Cabinet, 30.11.20
Lambeth Made Safer
Strategy

Abrilli
Phillip

School

TBC

Previous Pupil Place
Planning reports

Cath
Millington

School

 Mums for
Lungs

New School Streets
prog

Page 83

Youth Strategy

Aims/Objectives and recommendations

3. Mental health of children, changes to these and
challenges faced
4. Hackney model – appendix? SPD (Bennett and Davie)
– to feed into child sensitive design to Youth and Play
Strategy. Briefing note on considering as part of child
friendly approach to design.
5. Complex safeguarding – including county lines and
trafficking
6. Adoption of child friendly standards.
7. LYC engagement as appendix (Catherine Carpenter).

1. Ofsted progress report
2. Impact on staffing and mitigations

TBC
Eibhlin
McInerney

Our children, Our
Future

Previous Ofsted
reports

Redress Scheme
IICSA
Recommendations
Update

Review progress of IICSA Recommendations.

Pre-meet with Lead Officers: xx January 2022
Draft deadline: xx December 2021
Final deadline: xx January 2022
Agenda publication date: xx January 2022

Merlin
Joseph

N/A

N/A

Cabinet report
09.11.21 CSSSC
documents

Page 84

Update report on
Ofsted

Jane
Carroll

 Schools
(Jessop, Herne
Hill, and
Immanuel and
St Andrew
Primaries)
 Healthwatch
Lambeth
 Lambeth
Children’s
Partnership
 Local Child
psychologist
 Youth Council
 CPB – Cllr Ed
Davie (Chair)
 CPB – former
chairs (Cllr
Garden)
 DfE reps
 Ofsted report
writers

15 March 2022
Item/Topic

Aims/Objectives and recommendations

Lead
Officer

Update one year on.
Include short briefing (appendix) on London-wide
adoption agency.

Jane
Carroll

Budget

Review of Children’s Services budget proposals.

Merlin
Joseph





Background
information

Lambeth
fostering
officers/team
N/A

Brixton Police
Station
Trevor East
Kristian
Aspinall

Missing
children
Hampshire
police

 TBC

Previous Fostering
reports

N/A

Council and Cabinet
Budget reports

 Cllr Jacqui Dyer
 Andrew Travers
 Colin Wingrove,
Chief
Superintendent
 Raschell Ince,
Victim Support
Youth Advocate
 Abdul-Karim
Abdullah, Chair
of Lambeth
Safer
Neighbourhood
Board

 OSC 21.03.21 report
 Crime and Disorder
Act 1998
 Police and Justice Act
2007
 MET statistics
reports/analysis?
 MoU between
Lambeth/MET/partners
 Private:
Minutes/agenda from
Safer Lambeth Board
Redress Scheme

IICSA
Recommendations
Update




Review progress of IICSA Recommendations.
How do we implement and track HR and
organisational/culture changes (retention,
recruitment, training metrics) – appendix.

Merlin
Joseph

N/A

N/A

Cabinet report
09.11.21 CSSSC
documents

Page 85

Safer Lambeth
Strategy

Assurance that the Strategy is working for young
people who are vulnerable to violence/violent
crime.
Measures in place when lockdown restrictions lift
How CSSSC can play a greater role in
addressing concerns and mitigating impacts.
To include county lines and impact on most
vulnerable children.

Witnesses

Fostering
home

Fostering



Visits

Pre-meet with Lead Officers : TBA
Draft deadline: 25 February 2022
Final deadline: 04 March 2022
Agenda publication date: 07 March 2022

Issues for potential future scrutiny
The following matters have been identified by Members at previous meetings:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Children and accommodation; homelessness and young people;
Reducing adverse children’s experiences and neglect;
Feeling safe and supported - children and young people in care/those needing support - continuity issues, not repeating their story;
Prevention and how services – council/services/stakeholders – work together;
Children’s and young persons’ mental health, to request report authors consider and include these across all reports.

Page 86

Post-Meeting Actions

30 June 2021
Report Title

SEND and
Inclusion
Strategy

Outcome & Actions Arising
1. To promote opportunities with employers and
voluntary organisations to aid pathways to
adulthood and identify employees’ support
needs.
2. To provide a measurable set of targets for the
Strategy’s Action Plan, including outcomes
for young people transitioning to adulthood,
aiding independent living and improved links
with employers and housing providers.
3. To ensure the Strategy had adequate and
early identification provisions, particularly for
early years; whilst detailing improvements of

Lead

Action status

Deadline

Abrilli Phillip
Director
Education and
Learning,

In Cabinet report

Ongoing

Comprehensive, measurable targets are
already in the action plan. The contribution
of each partner to the evaluation of the
success of each target will be finalised by
the end of September.

Prior to
Cabinet
decision

In Cabinet report

Ongoing

Jo SullivanLyons, AD
Education
Strategy

RAG
Status

4.

5.

6.

7.

8. To consider opportunities to share good
practice with neighbouring local authorities,
and detail cross-borough working with and
comparisons to, neighbouring boroughs’
strategies.

This is a key priority within the draft SEND
and Inclusion strategy. Please refer to
Appendix A, priority number 6.

Prior to
Cabinet
decision

22.09.21 Visit

Prior to
Cabinet
decision

Taken with above item

Prior to
Cabinet
decision

In Cabinet report

Ongoing

Lambeth’s neighbouring authorities have
written statements of action (WSOA)
(inadequate) from the Ofsted/ CQC
inspections and/ or overspends in the high
needs block of their DSGs requiring them to
submit deficit recovery plans to the DfE.
With reference to this, although they may
have some good practice it is leading to
huge deficits.
For example:
Merton: WSOA and deficit of £ 25m
Wandsworth: WSOA
Croydon: £ 23m deficit (not yet inspected
by Ofsted/ CQC)
Southwark: £21m deficit

Prior to
Cabinet
decision

Page 87

families’ use of early years settings, the role
of heath visitors, and how Lambeth was to
approach these.
To review and monitor EHCPs, principally on
ongoing maintenance, accountability and
practical implementation.
That the committee members receive a
separate briefing on EHCPs with the
Assistant Director Education Strategy,
Access and Inclusion.
To share an initial summary of and later the
full Action Plan indicating success criteria and
targets with Members.
To ensure the voices of young people,
particularly SEND, and all communities,
particularly young black persons, were
continuously heard, represented and included
in the Action Plan.

Lambeth had a very successful Ofsted/
CQC inspection in 2020 and will have a
balanced budget position by 2023 (minimal
deficit and therefore no requirement for a
deficit recovery plan to the Department for
Education)

Alex
Kubeyinje,
Director CSC;
Shkelqim
Lumaa,
Service
Manager CSC
Nina SioLokam,

In Cabinet report

Ongoing

Completed

Prior to
Cabinet
decision

Completed – in Cabinet report

Prior to
Cabinet
decision

Completed

Prior to
Cabinet
decision

16.11.21

16.11.21

16.11.21

Page 88

Impact of
the Londonwide
Regional
Adoption
Agency

9. To consult with nursery managers and staff
on real needs and that nursery providers
were included in the Action Plan.
10. To include lessons learnt during lockdown
and discuss with families and the most
vulnerable children impacted by the
pandemic; and reflect these in the Action
Plan.
11. To note the current funding challenges posed
by central government and demonstrate
strong outcomes for children with SEND in
the final decision report.
12. To identify the level of need and use this
information to lobby central Government on
increased SEND parameters and provide the
resources necessary to implement wider
SEND responsibilities.
1. To review the financial cost of courses and,
where possible, include the most wellregarded courses as part of the support
package for prospective adopters.
2. To review allowances for employers,
especially to support BAME adoptees, and, if
sufficient allowances were in place, to help
adoptive families minimise financial impacts.
3. To encourage employers to provide adequate
adoptive leave, such as mirroring maternity
leave arrangements.

Agency
Advisory and
Permanency
Lead

Ongoing

Ongoing

16.11.21

16.11.21
16.11.21

Alex
Kubeyinje,
Director CSC
Supporting
Families
Programme

1. To provide detail on improved working
arrangements with partners.

Ongoing

Brenda
McInerney,
AD Early Help
Kulsuma Faiz,
Co-ordinator

We have relaunched the Early Help Strategic
Group which includes a wide range of partners
which meet monthly. Currently the group are
focussing on developing the broader EH
Partnership wide strategy with a number of
working groups. One working group is focussing
on workforce and community which will, as part
of this remit look at undertaking a self-evaluation
of the partnership using the Early Help Systems
guide provided by MHCLG. A second working
group will focus on Infrastructure & Digital and
will be working on the development of several IT
solutions to improve working arrangements with
partners. This will include development of the
Mosaic Portal- which will allow external partners
to complete Early Help Assessments which can
then be uploaded directly on to the Mosaic case
management system. A third working group is
for schools to develop their Early help offer and
is led by a local Head Teacher. There is also
ongoing work being undertaken across EH

15.11.21

Page 89

4. To monitor the post-adoption programme,
noting the ongoing pressure on CAMHS.
5. To monitor Lambeth young people’s health
and wellbeing across the borough’s
partnerships as adoption numbers were low
in Lambeth and the time children remained in
care was still high.
6. To monitor performance and to regularly
report back to the Sub-Committee.
7. To continually review barriers to adoption,
recruitment strategies, and to ensure that
those seeking to adopt met and reflected the
needs of children.
8. To use outreach techniques (e.g., event
attendance) to reach specific audiences,
particularly underrepresented audiences.
9. To work across Children’s Services to
consider permanency at point of contact.

locality teams with partners in the voluntary
sector, schools etc to support capacity building.

2. To provide the Sub-Committee with the
written response(s) to MHCLG questions
within 28 days.
3. To regularly monitor data maturity milestones
to improve reporting.

28.07.21
Ongoing

There is considerable work being done through
the Infrastructure and Digital working group to
ensure we continue to strengthen our data
monitoring for families supported through this
programme. We have developed a PowerBI
dashboard which will allow us to report more
effectively on demographics for the families we
work with progress they have achieved. We
hope to share the data with partners in the next
Early Help Strategic group in December.

15.11.21

Page 90

4. To improve data- and resource- sharing links
with providers.

Provided via email

Details of child level reporting of engagement
and progress were provided via email to provide
an overview of the progress.

5. To implement lessons learnt and focus on
partner working arrangement.

See note for bullet point 1.

15.11.21

6. To extend and strengthen Locality Panels
and ensure ward councillors were involved
and contacted to identify local groups.

We have recently changed the geographical
areas covered by the Early Help locality teams
the locality partnership meetings now reflect the
changes.
Community Early Help Partnership meetings
continue to take place across each of the locality
teams every 6 weeks and are now chaired by
Locality Managers. An attached slide shows the
wards covered by each of the four localities.

15.11.21

7. To strengthen data monitoring and continue
to support families after Programme.

See note for bullet point 4.

15.11.21

07 December 2021
Report Title
IICSA Action
Plan

Outcome & Actions Arising

Lead

Action status

Deadline

RAG
Status

Action status

Deadline

RAG
Status

1.
2.

Xx January 2022
Report Title
1.
2.
1.
2.
1.
2.
1.
2.
1.
2.

Lead

Page 91

Youth
Strategy
Pupil Place
Planning
Child
Friendly
Lambeth
Update
report on
IICSA
Update
report on
Ofsted

Outcome & Actions Arising

15 March 2022
Report Title
Fostering
Budget

Lead

Action status

Deadline

RAG
Status

1.
2.
3.
4.
1.
2.
1.
2.

Page 92

Safer
Lambeth
Strategy
IICSA
Recommend
ations
Update

Outcome & Actions Arising

